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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM™) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE™)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company’)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading and that all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at
after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com
for at least seven days from the date of its publication.

ERBEXBZMBERAT ([BXF]) GEM ([GEM ]) 2 F &

GEMHJEN  IBFNPERAGEE—MILTHTE LERAGEEERMERIT LTHAAEERERER
B BEEREZALETHRERZEAAZEGERE LESBFREFZEZRETFLHRERE -

HRGEM LT R BERF)ELRE] HGEMEBEZ FF JREEBRRBEXEIREBEFREBAZ TS
KEmEE R ERECGEMEBZ BXKEEBREEZ TS -

BEXRGREENERAFIREEHER G BERAAIHNHFENABTH T RE  HH BRI T BT T
KA B A - 30 B ER T BT B R K3 &5 £ BE 2 (F 1] 8 17 P9 25 17 E AL B A 17 RE A% 5 N &5 1T 5 U9 1 1] 1R X
EIEEAE (T

IR 0 B H 7R T GEMEE 5 £ A2 Al ([GEM_E AR ) T T/ # - B 184 B B+ BT AR /B = 5 15 5 IR
RE]([KARE]))BIEHR  ARGIMEF ([EF)) B ARG HEH R RS AEL R EEFHF
H— R EEHE  EBRETHRAITG  RREEEHEEEZT 1B EMRT G RERGAFAL

WEERAEMEFBHRE RS BEMRALARFEELHREG ARG RERN — ) EREFEEFZ
BEEL  WERR R FHIEENEERBE -

A & 5 R T & AR R — 2+ H 8 GEMA 25 www.hkgem.com B [ R _F T2\ 6] 23 & | A9 & -



3 Corporate Information
CONTENTS Corport
B #

Corporate Profile
NG
7 Chairman’s Statement
TREWE
11 Management Discussion and Analysis
ERERwm LD
18 Corporate Governance Report
rEERRSE
35 Biographical Information of Directors and
Key Management
EERTEEREREEHM
39 Directors’ Report
EFEgWwE
56 Independent Auditors’ Report
BB RS
63 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBmk
64 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
meEBn kHEMEEKRE
65 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BB R &
67 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EHR
68 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHREmRER
70 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BN
208 Five Year Financial Summary
hEMBEHE

o



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
Mr. Chang Jian

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan
Mr. Liang Feng
Mr. Wang Chen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman of audit committee)
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Zhi He (Chairman of nomination committee)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman of remuneration committee)
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

CORPORATE INFORMATION

TRBEE (ZE)
FRkAE

FHITES
BL)ll%E

RIg 4
IH®RELE
BAFHTES
BRA KL

FzMmEst
TRRRER B

BEREES

NEEHR

BRABELE (FRZREEL/E)

FZMEE
R L

REZEE

T2 E (FEEZRETE)

FRFA L
TRERERSE A&

FMEES

BIIR AL (FrBHZ

Tkt
TRERERSE A&

E81E)

FEEERESERRAA
—E--FEH

'3



4

CORPORATE INFORMATION
NREFR

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tse Chun Lai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng
Mr. Tse Chun Lai

HEAD OFFICE & PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Room 20, 19/F,

Fortune Commercial Building
362 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

REWE
AR ST
EETE

TRBSEE
REAXR

TRBEE
siEREE

ERANEERTELEXME

S
Y8 13625
ES S EPN
191820

AMRER

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

FERODBFETRE

Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

EEROBFERIR

BEZEREARAA
B
2FRER1835R
AR L221E



CORPORATE INFORMATION

~NaER
AUDITOR = EED
KTC Partners CPA Limited MEEFTAIEBMERA T
LEGAL ADVISER AS TO HONG KONG LAW ERERZEEER
Michael Li & Co TRIBEMEBLAT
Room 901 and 19th Floor EFEFIR
Prosperity Tower EFREF=TN%
39 Queen’s Road Central YWRRAEIEANE
Central, Hong Kong 901ZE K198
PRINCIPAL BANKER FTEFRELT
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited REERTT (BB) BRAA
STOCK CODE B3R
08270 08270

FEEERESERRAA ‘ 5
—E--FEH



6

CORPORATE PROFILE
DAEN

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations
are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July 2002
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda. It was initially listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Beijing. The Group’s production of liquefied
coalbed gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest
liquefied coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to Shanxi
Provinces, etc..

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (‘LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality
clean energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering Coalbed Methane (“CBM”) extraction,
liquefaction, pipelines and highway transportation, distribution
network and technical services. As at 31 December 2021, we have
completed the groundwork and drilling of 229 wells in the Yangcheng
gas block which resulted in stable increase of the number of
production wells and gas output.

EXTRACTION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

During 2021, the construction of new wells was somewhat affected
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. As at 31
December 2021, we have completed the ground work and drilling
of a total of 229 CBM wells, of which 164 wells were operating wells
with stable production since they had been put in operation. Thanks
to the stable gas output in gas blocks, the Group has generated
revenue, profit and cash flow from the business of exploitation of
natural gas, and its profitability and cash flow position will be further
improved as the number and capabilities of production wells further
increase.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERW|E

LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

As at 31 December 2021, the production capacity of the Group's
LNG plants remained unchanged at the level of approximately
500,000 cubic meters per day. As at 31 December 2021, the
production capacity of the Group's LNG plants remained unchanged
at the level of approximately 500,000 cubic meters per day. Due to
the insufficient raw gas supply, the average daily production was
only around 50,000 m® for the year. In 2022, the Group will try the
best effort to stabilised the gas supply from suppliers and increase
the utilisation rate of our LNG plants in the second half of 2021,
and which will continue to increase the income, profit and cash
flow contribution to the Group. The Group will try the best effort to
stabilised the gas supply from suppliers and increase the utilisation
rate of our LNG plants in 2022, and which will continue to increase
the income, profit and cash flow contribution to the Group.

MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In 2020, we used different
sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such as pipeline,
cylinder group, gas station and skid-mounted equipment to sell gas
to our customers. With commencement of the related work, we will
be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales and
optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from a
residential user dominated mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration
and production business and the continuous improvement of
technologies, and to maintain our leading position in technological
advancement, we actively worked with research institutes to build
and expand our professional technical team, so as to provide
professional and advanced technical services to our exploration and
liquefaction production business. In the future, we will be investing
heavily in developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology
and techniques.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observing its
environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure sustainable
development of its business. To the knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has complied with all material relevant applicable laws
and regulations in relation to its business including employment and
the environment. The Group encourages employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and
social activities. The Company as a leading CBM company will seize
opportunities to grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable
basis.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provide that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. As pollution is worsening in China, governments at
all levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognizing the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional natural
gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand of natural
gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is inevitable that the
PRC government would need to encourage the unconventional gas
production. With all the favourable policies and measures in place,
there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading CBM company, will
gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity to grow our CBM
business on a long term sustainable basis and would try our very
best to maximize our shareholders’ investment return.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERW|E

To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by innovation,
the Group commenced the R&D on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas
production in 2017, which is temporarily named as High temperature
water Activate C-H to Synthesis of Natural-gas Technology. The
Group has commenced the process of commercialized design in
the second half of 2019 and small-scale production is expected to
start before the end of 2021. The first experiment equipment went
through trail run in June 2021, according to the results of the trial
run > we proposed the improved design, which involved special steel
material imported from abroad. The disrupted global supply chain
due to COVID-19 led to the delay in obtaining the imported steel
material. The second experiment equipment is in the progress of
construction which is expected to be completed in November 2022
and the trail run is expected to be in December 2022. According to
the results of the trial run, the Group intends to build 10 equipment
of which each is capable of cubic 50,000 meters daily production
of natural gas. With the steady increase in the number of upstream
wells and gas output and the successful development of C-H to
Synthesis of natural gas production, the Group’s LNG plant will get
a stable gas supply, enabling the LNG plants to reach full production
and realize the commercial value of the LNG plants. As the Group’s
raw gas supply will be further consolidated, the synergies of vertical
integration business of the Group will emerge. With the stable
supply from self-produced well gas and C-H to Synthesis of natural
gas production, the Company will gradually reduce its exposure to
external factors and the risks beyond the Company’s control in its
operations will also be reduced. Given the successful development
of such technology, the Group can cooperate with the city gas pipe
line network to introduce C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production
directly into the city gas pipeline network, providing new profit growth
for the Group.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise in
China’s CBM industry and other innovative industries.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

31 March 2022

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB215,125,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing an increase of approximately 19.96% compared with
that of the year ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly
because (a) our LNG plant was resumed production in February
2021 and it contributed approximately of RMB31,462,000 of revenue
in the year; (b) the outbreak of Covid-19 led to the provision of
gas supply connection services was slow downed in 2020. The
economic activity was back to normal in the year, therefore, the
revenue of provision of gas supply connection services increased
from RMB12,438,000 to RMB30,312,000. (c) During the year, due to
an undersupply of raw gas in our LNG plant, our LNG plant provided
coalbed gas liquefaction processing services for our customers
to improve the usage of our LNG plant. The processing services
contributed the revenue of approximately RMB12,713,000.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 of
approximately RMB2,236,000 compared with that of approximately
RMB40,627,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The reasons
for the losses are as follows:

1. The Group recorded gross loss of approximately RMB491,000
in 2021 because (a) In 2021, the business of Guangxi Beiliu
Company (& a4t i A &) significantly decreased due to
dramatic increase in its costs of the purchase of liquefied natural
gas and the inversion of costs had occurred since June 2021.
Guangxi Beiliu Company (E b2 7)) attempted to pass
the costs to the ultimate users, but due to the local franchise
rights held by Guangxi Beiliu Company (Bt i A &) and its
social responsibility to the utmost, Guangxi Beiliu Company (/&
bR A |a)) consequently did not increase the selling price of
natural gas and remained the provision of gas supply for local
enterprises, which resulted in the gross loss of piped natural
gas business of Guangxi Beiliu Company (E LR A Al .
(b) In 2021, notwithstanding the significant increase in the sale
of the provision of gas supply connection services of Guangxi
Beiliu Company (E 1L 7AF]) , its gains had been offset by
the loss of piped natural gas business. (c) In 2021, due to the
shortage in the supply of raw gas, the average daily production
only amounted to approximately 50,000 m® in our LNG plant
which resulted in the gross loss recorded in sales business of
liquefied coalbed gas as a result of the increase in unit cost of
liquefied coalbed gas.

2. In 2021, the gain of the Group through selling subsidiaries
amounted to approximately RMB50,785,000.

3. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB26,376,000 was recognized.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest in
certain CBM properties located at Shanxi Province, the PRC. The
Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in the Shanxi Province, the
PRC. Development within the Yangcheng gas block is focused on
the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM properties are located at
various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited. Huiyang New Energy is a joint venture
company and 60% of its equity interests is held by one of the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of 31
December 2021 are set out below:
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2021 BCF 2012 BCF

R=B=—% R=FB-=F
+t=A=+—-8 =A=+-—H
WRBRAEE KNRERAE
ok B R4 ok B A
TREYGRR  +HEIGRR

Total original gas in place on all blocks Ffr A [& £ B R 14 K S8 T ith & 42

Net 1P (Proved) reserves BE(P) FHE
Net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves B FE JIHERE (2P) /F =

Net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) & & & AL RS A1 °] 8E(3P) Ff# &

reserves

=3 193.6 272.4
108.9 3.5
154.7 27.7
193.6 205.0

The change in the 1P, 2P and 3P is based on the professional advice
by the Engineer of our Group.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

(1P), (2P)% (P& & Jh A AL E T 2AD



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherlands, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI") engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells
are relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling
the Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to
evaluate the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the
Company engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC
in July 2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New
Energy” in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves,
net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves
based on substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that
of NSAl in 2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the
total original gas in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as
compared with that of NSAI in 2012. Based on the current costs for
developing wells, the technical department of the Group estimates
the capital expenditure for each well to be approximately RMB1.4
million, mainly comprising of road maintenance fees of approximately
RMBO0.09 million, drilling expenses of approximately RMB0.86 million,
well testing fees of approximately RMB0.04 million and costs of
equipment and materials of approximately RMB0.41 million.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable;
probable and possible reserves are those additional reserves which
are sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

Natural Gas Exploration and Extraction

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 229 CBM wells, among which 164 wells were in
production. The operating wells with stable production since they had
been put in operation.

Liquefaction operation

As at 31 December 2021, the production capacity of the Group's
LNG plants remained unchanged at the level of approximately
500,000 cubic meters per day. Due to the insufficient raw gas supply,
the average daily production was only around 50,000 m? for the year.

Marketing and Sales

During 2021, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies basically
remained the same. Affected by overall environment, the sales
price during traditional peak periods did not represent a substantial
increase as the previous year, by contrast, the sales price took on
a descending trend, which, to some extent, has affected the sales
performance.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net assets of approximately
RMB114,669,000, including cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB63,938,000. To minimize financial risks, the Group
implements stringent financial and risk management strategies and
avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The Group’s
gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external borrowings
divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately 19.49% as at
31 December 2021 (2020: 49.65%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether
it is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from fund
raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart from the
intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and extraction, the
Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or investment,
disposal or scale-down of any current business.

The Employees

As at 31 December, 2021, the employees of the Group totaled 336,
among which 30 were R&D staff and 182 were project and customer
service staff; 105 were administration staff and 19 were marketing
and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff (including the
remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in profit or loss
account was approximately RMB22,224,000 (2020: approximately
RMB18,027,000). The remuneration and salary packages and
dividend policy of the Group were determined based on the individual
performance of staff. The Group will continue to offer professional
further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-
of-use Assets

During the year ended 31 December 2021, an impairment loss of
approximately RMB26,376,000 was recognised in respect of certain
property, plant and equipment included in Yangcheng Huiyang CGU.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Company. For the details of major disposal of
subsidiaries, please refer to Major transaction and Events on page 48
to 51.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily and
the well construction and gas output are both increasing constantly.
During 2017, the Company made technological upgrade to some
old wells to improve production capacity and output, laying a solid
foundation for the Company’s long-term performance. However,
the shortage in supply of raw gas kept handicapping the Company.
Daily gas output of the upstream business was insufficient to allow
the 500,000 cubic meters daily production capacity of liquefaction
plant to be fully unleased, the Group commenced the R&D on C-H
to Synthesis of natural gas production in 2017, which is temporarily
named as High-temperature water Activate C-H to Synthesis of
Natural-gas Technology. The Group has commenced the process
of commercialized design in the second half of 2019 and small-
scale production is expected to start before the end of 2021. The
first experiment equipment went through trail run in June 2021,
according to the results of the trial run, we proposed the improved
design, which involved special steel material imported from abroad.
The disrupted global supply chain due to COVID-19 led to the delay
in obtaining the imported steel material. The second experiment
equipment is in the progress of construction which is expected
to be completed in November 2022 and the trail run is expected
to be in December 2022. According to the results of the trial run,
the Group intends to build 10 equipment of which each is capable
of cubic 50,000 meters daily production of natural gas. With the
steady increase in the number of upstream wells and gas output
and the successful development of C-H to Synthesis of natural gas
production, the Group’s LNG plant will get a stable gas supply,
enabling the LNG plants to reach full production and realize the
commercial value of the LNG plants. As the Group’s raw gas supply
will be further consolidated, the synergies of vertical integration
business of the Group will emerge. With the stable supply from self
produced well gas and C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production,
the Company will gradually reduce its exposure to external factors
and the risks beyond the Company’s control in its operations will also
be reduced. Given the successful development of such technology,
the Group can cooperate with the city gas pipeline network to
introduce C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production directly into the
city gas pipeline network, providing new profit growth for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain its
strong momentum. Management of the Company will spare no effort
in overcoming difficulties and be devoted to making contribution to
the Company’s profit margin and long-term development.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s shareholding in Shanxi
Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang and the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately RMB61,758,000
were pledged as security for lease liabilities of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance
of responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders, (iii)
the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and the
recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and (iv)
the improvement in crisis management and the enhancement
of performance by the Group. The Group has applied the
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules with
these objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate Governance
Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out the
corporate standards and practices used by the Group to direct
and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by reference to
the principles, code provisions and recommended best practices
set out in the Code, which came into effect on 1 January
2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate governance
principles and practices, the Company Code also serves the
purpose of assimilating existing practices with benchmarks
prescribed by the Code and ultimately ensuring high
transparency and accountability to the Group’s shareholders.

Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code Provisions™)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2021 save for code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason
for derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s code
of conduct for the year 2021.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman), and
Mr. Chang Jian, three non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Duan Shi
Chuan, Mr. Liang Feng and Mr. Wang Chen and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Xu Yuan Jian, Mr. Wang Zhi
He and Mr. Lau Chun Pong. Mr. Lau Chun Pong has appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2020, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, (c)
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and ()
the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have no fixed
term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of this
code provision.

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that
the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

e to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

e to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

e to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision
and implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;

3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4. Kkeeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr. Feng San Li on
26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the title of CEO. Mr,
Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board. After Mr. Feng's
retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues to act as the chairman
and the duties of the chief executive have been undertaken by the
other executive Director. The Board meets regularly to consider
major matters affecting the business and operations of the Group.
The Board considers that this structure will balance the power and
authority between the Board and management and believes that
this structure enables the Group to make and implement decision
promptly and efficiently.
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PO T2

TEERHRE

BOARD OPERATION EEgEF

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with ZEE&€ —ReS=-@AFHem — X I
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2021, the AEAFZERSITHEmM - EFTEN_-Z
Board held 16 meetings. BRI TRREE-

The attendance record of each member of the Board at board SEEFeRKEHFAARETe MK
meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below: RARERLEMT

Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meetings

ETEEBHER BRRAEHER

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairrman) 15/15 3/3
TREEE (F/E)

Mr. Chang Jian 16/16 3/3
BRLE

Non-Executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan 16/16 3/3
BL)ll%E

Mr. Liang Feng 16/16 3/3
Mr. Wang Chen 15/15 3/3
FEHREE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Lau Chun Pong 16/16 3/3
2R F &

Mr. Wang Zhi He 16/16 3/3
FzMEsE

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 16/16 3/3
TRFEER 4

Note: Number of board meeting and general meeting held during the tenure of the Director B 5 - BEEAHNBRTEZEERRBRRASHAH
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Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.

Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

e A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every Director,
which sets out guidelines on conduct by making reference to the
relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM Listing Rules, and
reminds Directors of their responsibilities in making disclosure of
their interests and potential conflict of interests.

e  QOrientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

e Management provides appropriate and sufficient information to
Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. Directors’
training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December
2021, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

Attending seminar(s)

or programme(s)/

reading relevant materials
in relation to the business,
GEM Listing Rules or
directors’ duties (Yes/No)

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Chang Jian Yes
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan Yes
Mr. Liang Feng Yes
Mr. Wang Chen Yes
Mr. Lau Chun Pong Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian Yes

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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BNERENTERRETR - FELTA
AERAREBEEE ATHRERXRH NEE

5%

The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
discloseable transactions and connected transactions etc.
REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY IHFEEEEAENETM
MANAGEMENT

*HFEBERAR CFREEE) HFH
ARANFLTHE:

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude
Director) fell within the following band:

2021 2020
—EBE_—F —EEHF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 A
Nil ~ HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to ==& 7t1,000,0007T (A& K
approximately RMB830,000 #9 A R 3830,0007T
(2020: RMB890,000) —ECFF:
AR #890,0007T) ) 2 2

FMEES

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneraton ZAATHFMEES ([FMZE<])ER
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the —ZERFNA+_HRKZ EFBEHE
following purposes: 5

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

MREENDREIEE NI RR LR
B ERZERMASEARNER
AHEHEFMBR MESSRE

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and (a)
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure

for developing such policy on remuneration; e
(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration (b)) MHITEETLSRAETEENHESEE
packages for executive Directors and senior management and MEFSRLER UMFNTES

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

BN M E E RIS -

FWEZE @R ARFIEMBLIIFNTES
Mk BREBIRATE (EF) HFERE
ERETzMELE-FHEZEGZRHE SR
A MBMITES RTHRA B ZHMER &
FaELEZ-

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations to
the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors and
executives.

FEEERESERRAA ‘ 25
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S2. M\Aiﬁd:
In 2021, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The HMEZEEERN T - —FEHRIT - NEH-
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee *EM@%@%WE R FEAL SR
is set out below:

Attendance

HE =

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 2/2
BRI (L)
Mr. Wang Zhi He 2/2
TomesE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 2/2
HRFAER
During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee  7& & =% Hif - ZEgXEEREET

reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors (such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group).

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to
the remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure of
the Company and the remuneration and performance of duties
of the executive Directors and senior management in the year
under review; and

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,

knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the

selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution

that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He

(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Lau Chun Pong.
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In 2021, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. The
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is
set out below:

Mr. Wang Zhi He (Chairman)
F2MEE (F/E)

Mr. Lau Chun Pong

ZIRFA LA

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian
TRFEER S 4

REGZEeN T FYRITRAEE-
REAZESSNEMNHELENT

Attendance

i FE &

2/2

2/2

2/2

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.
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AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board in
fulfiling its responsibilities by providing an independent review and
supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management system; and (d) to review the
appointment of external auditors on an annual basis as well as to

ensure independence of the continuing auditors.

In 2021, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

TEERKRE

B REZEEEZHEHE
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Attendance
HER
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 4/4
BURA e E (F/E)
Mr. Wang Zhi He 4/4
FzAEE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 4/4
IRFRER S A
FRAEEREBEARAA
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At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the
Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The
Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties
set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has
met the company’s management several times during year 2020.
Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2021, the Audit Committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2021 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed

the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2020, interim financial results and report
for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and quarterly financial
results and reports for each of the three months ended 31
March 2021 and 30 September 2021;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk

management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of

appointment of external auditors.

The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the

GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows:

Room 20, 19/F

Fortune Commercial Building
362 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his wilingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be
at least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgment of such
notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors have:

e adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

e made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in all corporate communications.
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Internal Control and risk management

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control and risk
management over financial, operational and compliance issues for
the year 2021. The Audit Committee concluded that, in general,
the Group has set up a sound control environment and installed
necessary control mechanisms to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board, through the review of the Audit Committee,
is satisfied that the Group in 2021, fully complied with the code
provisions on internal controls and risk management as set forth in
the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that the Group has
employed sufficient staff for the propose of accounting, financial and
internal control. The Group has internal audit department.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are KTC Partners CPA Limited.
The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditors’
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it has:

e determined the framework for the type and authorisation of non-
audit services for which the external auditors may provide. In
general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

e agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2021, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external
auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,350,000 and RMB358,000 respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that KTC Partners CPA
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Tse Chun Lai (“Mr. Tse”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary and the Authorised Representative on January 2020. For
details, please refer to page 38 to this report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at https://mediumir.com/c08270/en/index.php.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 58, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 2006,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (K2 m B RIEEEF A
FR/AF]). Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company
which holds 1,371,684,912 Shares in person or through controlled
corporation, representing approximately 66.01% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

Mr. Chang Jian, aged 56, was appointed as an executive director on
June 2019. Mr. Chang has previously studied in the Safe Engineering
department of Beijing Technical College of Economics (3t R 48 %
7). Mr. Chang has over 30 years of experience in industrial
production and safety management.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan, aged 39, was appointed as an non-executive
director on July 2020, Mr. Duan obtained a master degree in
environmental sciences from the China University of Petroleum
(Beijing) (A BIAAAE (465 ) ) in 2009. He joined the Group since
2011 and currently serves as the general manager and chief engineer
of the Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company
Limited* (FZ 9 8 B[5#ee RERBMR A F]), a subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Duan has extensive experience in production and
liquefaction of coalbed gas.

Mr. Liang Feng, aged 43, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Liang has previously studied in the
Economic Development course offered by the School of Economics
and Management of Tsinghua University. He has over 15 years of
experience in corporate management.

Mr. Wang Chen, aged 35, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Wang has previously studied in Tianjin
Bohai Vocational Technical College (K723)/8 /L TR HMTE0T) .
He has over 10 years of experience in corporate management. Mr.
Wang is the son of the Chairman of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on November 2017. Mr. Lau graduated from the
University of California, Los Angeles with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Business Economics in 1997. Mr. Lau is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Lau has extensive experience in accounting, auditing and
corporate finance. He was () the qualified accountant and company
secretary of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation
Limited ORI TR EEBIZRI R BBR A Al) (isted on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8301) from April 2005 to
May 2006; (i) the financial controller and company secretary of We
Solutions Limited (former names: Ming Fung Jewellery Group Limited
and O Luxe Holdings Limited) (listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 860) from June 2008 and November
2008 respectively to November 2017; (iii) the group financial controller
and company secretary of AV Promotions Holdings Limited (listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8419) from June
2018 to June 2019; and (iv) the company secretary of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Ltd (KEZESIERBR A A]) (isted on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8299) from January 2019 to
February 2020. Mr. Lau is currently the Company Secretary and Chief
Financial Officer of Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited (listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 3686), and
the independent non-executive director of China Longevity Group
Company Limited (R EI#E X & E B R A 7)) (listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1863).
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Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 74, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal
Industry in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital
Management Division and State-owned Assets Management
department. In October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a
chief accountant of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and
worked as a deputy general manager and chief accountant in May
1999. Mr. Wang was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited
and worked as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has
years of relevant experience.

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non—
executive director on August 2019. Mr. Xu graduated from Beijing
Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in Chemistry in 1994. He
pursued the doctorate in the National University of Singapore from
1997 to 2000. Mr. Xu has years of working experience in research
areas of organic chemical technology as well as in physiochemical
treatment for organic pollutants.

Senior Management

Mr. Tse Chun Lai, aged 38, was appointed as the company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company on January 2020. Mr.
Tse obtained a degree of bachelor of arts in Accounting and Finance
from Leeds Beckett University (formerly known as Leeds Metropolitan
University). He is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over 15 years of
experience in business and taxation advisory.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 63 to 64.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31
December 2021 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 65 to 66 and note
42 respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 68 to 69.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set out in
page 67 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 18 to 34 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted
to approximately RMB nil (2020: approximately RMB nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 208.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB126,359,000 as at 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB87,414,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2021 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairrman)
Mr. Chang Jian

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan
Mr. Liang Feng
Mr. Wang Chen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, Mr. Liang Feng and Mr. Wang
Chen retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company.
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 35 to
page 38 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
Subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company
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underlying % of
Name Capacity Nature of interest shares  shareholdings
B’/ BERELN
®E 47 EmitE HEROHE Bt
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Interest of controlled Corporate interest 18,118,500 0.87%
TRBEE corporation NAER (Note )
XErEEER (HH&E)
Beneficial owner Personal 1,134,637,197 54.6%
ERBEAA fEA
Notes: B 5 -

Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited.

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the shares owned by Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS
WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
%A ROBE HZME BRAESHL
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 1,1562,755,697 Interest of spouse 55.47%
HEZ+ (M) [ X

Note: B 5

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested in her
spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under to section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company’s share option scheme was adopted which will remain
in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the Share Option
Scheme and has expired on 17 May 2021. On 30 May 2011, the
Board approved to grant options in respect of 258,300,000 ordinary
shares to the Company’s Directors, employees and consultants
under the Share Option Scheme.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the circular of
the Company dated 20 April 2011.

The Company has adopted new share option scheme pursuant to an
ordinary resolution on 28 March 2022.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with

46

the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BT
Exercise price
Cancelled/ of per share Adjusted
Name and As at Granted Exercised lapsed As at Date of Exercise as at the date  exercise price
category of 1 January during the during the during the 31 December grant of period of of grant of per share
participants 2021 year year year 2021 share options  share options  share options option
i £ i RERE  SHERE
ZBC-F Bit#f/ -B=-F e BRE RLAHZ P s
SRELZRER -B-H FRERY  FREFR %% tZR=t-H RAAH s  SROEE e
Executive Director
HITEE
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng 324,750 - - (324,750) - 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 0.49 3.81
TRBEE 29/5/2021
324,750 - - (324,750) -
Employees 5,811,726 - - (5,811,726) - 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 0.49 381
B8 29/5/2021
Consuttants 25,982,598 - - (25,982,598) - 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 0.49 381
B 29/5/2021
32,119,074 - - (82,119,074) -
Notes: B 5 -
0] The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows: i) RAFEFEZ BB ERREHFET :
Contractual
Number of options Vesting conditions life of options
BREHE HBERE BRESKNED
Options granted:
ER R
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—ZE——FRA=TH BN 55 /&8 10
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first and second 10 years
anniversaries of grant date
—E2——FHA=+H REBBMzEEARE_EBFEER—F 10 F
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(ii) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

(i) EBREZ B REFHITEENT

Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
InEFHTEE BREHE

HKS$

BIT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—F—A—BKRTE 3.81 32,119,074
Granted during the year FRNEERE - -
Lapsed during the year FARNBERK 3.81 (32,119,074)
Outstanding as at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—HKTE 3.81 -
Exercisable as at 31 December 2021 RZBZ—F+=ZA=+—HHTE 3.81 -

The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme is
solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the higher of:
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of offer to
grant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of offer
to grant option, provided that in the event of fractional prices, the
subscription price per share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest
whole cent.
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MAJOR TRANSACTION AND EVENTS

Connected transaction in relation to subscription of
new shares by a substantial shareholder under specific
mandate and application for whitewash waiver

On 31 December 2020, the Company and a substantial shareholder
entered into the subscription agreement, pursuant to which the
Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and a substantial
shareholder conditionally agreed to subscribe for, an aggregate
of 758,515,714 subscription shares at the subscription price
of approximately HK$0.028 per Subscription Share for a total
consideration of HK$21,238,440. The consideration for the
subscription shares will be set off on a dollar to dollar basis against
the Loan which is the outstanding loan owed by the Company to a
substantial shareholder in the amount of HK$21,238,440 as a result
of the convertible bonds having become matured and due on 9
December 2020.

A substantial shareholder and the parties acting in concert with
him holds an aggregate of 394,239,983 Shares,
approximately 29.88% of the issued share capital of the Company,
among which as to 18,118,500 Shares, representing approximately
1.37% of the issued share capital of the Company, are held by
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by a substantial shareholder and as to 376,121,483 Shares,
representing approximately 28.51% of the issued share capital of the
Company, are held by a substantial shareholder.

representing

Upon subscription completion, a substantial shareholder and parties
acting in concert with him hold an aggregate of 1,152,755,697
Shares, representing approximately 55.47% of the voting rights of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the subscription
shares (assuming that there is no change in the issued share capital
of the Company other than the issue of the subscription shares).
As a result, a substantial shareholder and parties acting in concert
with him will be obliged to make a mandatory general offer for all
the issued shares (other than those already owned or agreed to be
acquired by the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with him)
pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, unless the Whitewash
Waiver is obtained from the Executive Director of the Corporate
Finance Division of the SFC (“Executive”).
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A substantial shareholder applied to the Executive for the granting
of the Whitewash Waiver in respect of the allotment and issue of
the subscription shares and which, if granted, will be subject to
the approval by at least 75% and more than 50% of the votes cast
by the independent shareholders by way of a poll in respect of
the Whitewash Waiver and the subscription (including the Specific
Mandate), respectively, at the SGM. The aforesaid condition is not
capable of being waived. If the Whitewash Waiver is not granted, the
subscription would not proceed.

As a subscriber is a substantial Shareholder of the Company and
also an executive Director of the Company, the Subscriber is a
connected person of the Company as defined under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the subscription constitutes a
connected transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules and will be subject to the announcement,
reporting and approval by the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements. A special general meeting of the Company has been
convened on 21 May 2021, the subscription and granting of the
whitewash waiver were passed by ordinary resolution and special
resolution respectively.

For the details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 December 2020, 21 January 2021, 11 February 2021, 26
March 2021, 16 April 2021, 21 April 2021, 17 May 2021, 21 May
2021 and 31 May 2021, and the circular of the Company dated 22
April 2021.
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Very substantial disposal: Disposal of entire equity
interest in a PRC subsidiary

On 30 June 2021, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Vendor”) entered into the conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement
with the Purchaser pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to sell
and the Purchaser agreed to acquire the Sale Capital for an
aggregate consideration of RMB73,984,445 (excluding payment
of tax in respect of the Disposal by the Purchaser on behalf of the
Vendor) subject to and conditional upon the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. A PRC subsidiary is a limited liability company
established in the PRC and is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas in Ruyang County, Henan Province, the PRC. A PRC subsidiary
holds exclusive rights to operate natural gas in Ruyang County.
Before completion, a PRC subsidiary has a registered and paid
up capital of HK$60,000,000, which is owned as to 100% by the
Vendor.

As more than one of the applicable percentage ratio(s) exceeds
75%, the Disposal constitute a very substantial disposal on the
part of the Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules
and shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval at the SGM. A
special general meeting of the Company has been convened on 23
September 2021, and was passed by ordinary resolution. On 30
September 2021, the Group received a first tranche of consideration
of RMB59,187,556 from Purchaser as the registration of the transfer
of sale capital with relevant PRC authority has been completed and
completion took place in accordance with the terms of the sale
and purchase agreement on 29 September 2021. Accordingly, the
Company ceased to hold any interest in the PRC subsidiary.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 2 July 2021, 16 July 2021, 31 August 2021, 6 September
2021, 23 September 2021 and 4 October 2021 and the circular of
the Company dated 7 September 2021.
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Major Transaction: Disposal of entire equity interests in
a PRC subsidiary

On 2 December 2021, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(holding 97.5% of equity shares of Guangxi Beiliu Gas Co. Ltd.) and
Miss Sun Guilan (holding 2.5% of equity shares of Guangxi Beiliu Gas
Co. Ltd.) entered into the conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement
with the Purchaser pursuant to which the Vendors agreed to sell and
the Purchaser agreed to acquire the 100% equity interest of Guangxi
Beiliu Gas Co., Ltd. for a cash consideration of RMB80,000,000
(subject to adjustment). Upon Completion, the Group will cease to
hold any interests in Guangxi Beiliu Gas Co. Ltd.. Guangxi Beiliu Gas
Co. Ltd. is a limited liability company established in the PRC and is
principally engaged in sales of piped natural gas and provision of gas
supply connection services in Beiliu City, Guangxi Province, the PRC.

As more than one of the applicable percentage ratio(s) exceed 25%
but less than 75%, the Disposal constitute a major transaction on
the part of the Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing
Rules and shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval at the special
general meeting. A special general meeting of the Company has
been convened on 10 February 2022, and was passed by ordinary
resolution.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
2 December 2021, 19 January 2022 and 10 February 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 19 January 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 36.24% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 10.43% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 53.95% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 15.7% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders
of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set out
in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had no outstanding
convertible securities, warrants or instruments carrying other similar
rights.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”) has
provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB24,000,000. As
Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi Wanzhi
Logistics Limited (2 non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial assistance
provided by a connected person for the benefit of the Group on
normal commercial terms (or better to the Company) where no
security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect of the
financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material
related party transactions disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business as of the
Group.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
Proposed adoption of the new share option scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the Shareholders on
18 May 2011, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer options to the
eligible persons prescribed in the Previous Share Option Scheme
in its discretion. the Company had granted 32,119,074 options
under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for an aggregate of
32,119,074 Shares, of which no options had been exercised and all
the 32,119,074 options have been lapsed, resulting in no options
remained outstanding. The Share Option Scheme has expired on
18 May 2021 and no further new options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme. The Company proposes to adopt the New
Share Option Scheme subject to, among others, the approval by the
Shareholders at the SGM. A special general meeting of the Company
has been convened on 28 March 2022, and was passed by ordinary
resolution.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
10 March 2022 and 28 March 2021, and the circular of the Company
dated 10 March 2022.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to
allow shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s
future growth. The declaration, form, frequency and amount of
dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations and subject to the Articles. In deciding whether
to declare any dividend, the Board will take into account a number
of factors, including the financial results, the distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, and the current and future
development plans of the Company. The Board will review the
dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to time.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the annual general meeting. A resolution for the reappointment of
KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

31 March 2022
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

MESHMEHZMAERLE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 63 to 207,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB19,666,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, and as
at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by RMB151,115,000. These conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in note 1, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in
our report.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN FERNABRZEAREZSR

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets before current
year’s impairment were approximately RMB251,592,000
and RMB20,519,000 respectively. These assets mainly
belonged to two cash generating units (‘CGUs”) — Shanxi
Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang and were assessed for
impairment as indicators of impairment loss existed at the
end of the reporting period. The Group has incurred losses
for current and previous years in these two CGUs. These
situations indicate that the carrying value of these assets
may be impaired.
RZTEZ—F+_A=+—H W% #BIRZHEALE
AEEENREE(NBRAFERER) DNOBARE
251,592,0007T & A R#20,519,0007 - ZEEEF EHB
RREREEFEM (TReEEELEM]) —IUTLKKRES
B BERBERRERMEBEBRTREETRER
e BEREEZEMERTELBURRIFERBESF
EEEBR RERABTZEEENREER LI
EE

Impairment tests require the estimation of recoverable
amounts of the relevant cash generating units using a
discounted cash flow approach, as detailed in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements. Management
concluded its impairment assessments and impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB26,376,000 were recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2021 as the recoverable amount
of the Yangcheng Huiyang CGU was lower than its carrying
values.
BENRBECRAMRRER A A G HBReELEEN
BRI E & 5 IR E N R A M B mRM 16 - BEEER
HRBEIHELBgERBE S -_—F+=-A=+—H
IFFEREEERNYE BEIRREVREBEHAR
#26,376,0007T - B5 B 5 & E 4 B A ATl e € 58
BEREREE-
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

included:
BPPEmsE BESRREUARGFRAEEERE IE
FFeE:

We have reviewed the management’s assessment
on the recoverability of these assets and the
reasonableness of the judgements and estimates
used by the management in the value-in-use
calculations made by the independent valuer.
BPEEEEEEBUZSTEEN AT AR
EREEB L AEMETNEREEAEDHR
FA #If R AT & B MV B0 AT A o

We have discussed the indication of possible
impairment with the management and, where such
indication were identified by the management,
assessed the impairment testing performed by the
management.

B2 RERE N wmA e HIRABETR - &
EEECDHILZEDR A EEREETY
BRI

We have tested the cash flows projections
on whether they were agreed to the budgets
approved by the directors of the Company and
compared with actual results available up to the
report date.

BMEARARERERARER BEAFES
HENTBE B WHEAZEREANERERE
TR



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key Audit Matter
BREXRSEE

B ZBERE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN FZNABRZEARERSER

We have identified the impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of a significant degree of
judgements and estimates made by the management for the
cash flows projections and other key inputs for the value-in-
use calculations for determining the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs as at 31 December 2021.

B mE HERREAREREEERER R H
REZEFE REACEHGEVBHRRNERE WKk
EREHReRERARCERABEAENHMmEARE A
FBIELBERAEB GG WEER T —F+_A
=t HEeELBEUNAIKEERE-

We have challenged the appropriateness of the
management judgements and estimates used
in the cash flows projections, including the sales
growth rates and gross profit margins.
BFEHRESRETRRFTE R E IR E H 6 &
et (BREEHEEREREMNX)NES ERL
Bito

We have engaged an independent expert to assist
us in challenging the discount rates adopted in
the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its basis
of calculations and comparing the input data to
market sources.
BPEZERBIERGHHEMAEEERAEES
HEGt E R i A\ BUR BT 5 RRETEE
B AESERKANRERE

We have engaged the independent expert to assist
us in assessing the valuation methodology used
and the appropriateness of the key assumptions
and checked on sample basis, the accuracy
and the relevance of the input data adopted in
management’s value-in-use calculations.
BMEERBIERGHHEMTEEEELR
EBEFAENMRAGBEDERERRREETEES
WA T RE %P7 A A BUE 2 5 £ & iE
78

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
and our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s
website at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/
standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

B ZBERE

BB ER GRS M ERRAR
EHNEE

HMEERSEEMBRRERBMEEE T
FHEHRRFHBERMERZ BAHRR
ARG EEREB UAREAFAEHMER
ZRBEMBE ARBR—AN—FBERE
R ADE BRI AR TE R IR APTETT P E 2
REGH ERAEZBRRERE Kbz
ARENEEMAE - HFIB TR ARE
AR BRI EMALAESNE FERNE
o

BEREBBRKF2RE HEREEESE
FHEAPETT 2 ERTIET R RBRRERE
P72 5 K 8 AR PR 4t - 38 AR BR 7 BE A
MEF AR M Bl - MR HE R BB A
EEBHBATAREEREREZSE
EMBHRRELLERER ABHRSE
R 38 FR R AL o

FABMRERGEEMBRRARENSE
E2E—THFBRHNEESTTAGAL -
http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-
regulations/standards/auditing-assurance/

auditre/ © Ltk BB AR BRI R &5 2 — &0 D

REMEEN RARBELZEGEBT
eI ETEE  RRZH EXFAHR
F BREMEF T B L AIETEN
EAIERBREE -

BMEREZZEQRIER SHARM
ENAEEBYMEMNEREXRBRENX
WEMPIEREAREAEMKA/ETE
BB M ABEMEMEIER AR
EEAOBRT  FEREUABERRBE M 1T
Bl PR AR SEFE 1 o
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: PO4686

Hong Kong
31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 82— _—F+_A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—EF_—— —E_FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARETFT
Revenue g 5 215,125 179,329
Cost of sales SHE KA (215,616) (158,019)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8)E7 (491) 21,310
Other income and gains or losses = PN A 6 18,566 22 680
Selling and distribution costs $HE Ko iHAAR (7,583) (7,436)
Administrative and other expenses TH R EMRS (49,168) (40,750)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHB AR 2 W 41 50,785 -
Impairment loss on property, Y R RBEBEEE
plant and equipment (26,376) (23,355)
Reversal of impairment/ TEHEEEEER THE
(impairment loss) under expected WE CREEE)
credit loss model, net of reversal HIkr O 7 2,043 (752)
Finance costs B 752 B 8 (7,788) (8,127)
Loss before taxation BB RIEE 9 (20,012) (36,430)
Income tax credit FriSfii % 10 346 206
Loss for the year REEER (19,666) (36,224)
Attributable to: T3k :
Equity shareholders of the Company A &1z A B (2,236) (40,627)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR HE 2 (17,430) 4,408
(19,666) (36,224)
RMB RMB
AR¥ AR
Loss per share BREE
— Basic and diluted —HEAREE 14 0.13 cents & 3.08 cents &

TEEEREEBERAR

—E--FEH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEBRsEREMEERKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z_—F+_A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—E-F —T_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Loss for the year REEER (19,666) (36,224)
Other comprehensive (loss) income AEFEHME2ME (FE) WA
for the year
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently HigrgeER D EEBRD
to profit or loss: B E
Exchange differences on translation of RERINEBHBRE 2
financial statements of foreign operations EEL =& (1,213) 2,812
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERHEREH (20,879) (33,412)
Total comprehensive (loss) income Ty ESZE (BE)
attributable to: LNt
Equity shareholders of the Company AR RERRR (3,449) (37,815)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M 2 (17,430) 4,403
(20,879) (33,412)

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A IR R

At 31 December 2021 R=ZE_-_—F+=-H=+—H

2021 2020
—ZET_—— —EFF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo s ARET AREFTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - R R R 16 225,216 371,573
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17 20,519 33,149
Deposits and prepayments & RIBNHKIE 19 25,617 26,041
271,352 430,763
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 8,402 7,316
Trade and other receivables JrE L BR FR B L 4th JiE U FR IR 21 50,819 36,689
Tax recoverable EIEqER 2,209 2,000
Bank balances and cash BeMREEEY 22 63,938 25,880
125,368 71,885
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBEHENEE 23 71,220 =
196,588 71,885
Total assets mEE 467,940 502,648
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR SR % B A JE A< R IE 24 203,797 260,815
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E A B 25 24,000 54,200
Lease liabilities HERE 26 5,998 6,652
Provision i 28 14,465 21,583
Contract liabilities EHaE 29 - 20,180
Tax payable FERT IR - 2,979
248,260 366,409
Liabilities associated with assets HOEARELNEDN
classified as held for sale EEREHEMNAR 23 99,443 -
347,703 366,409
Net current liabilities REBAEETFE (151,115) (294,524)
Total assets less current liabilities 2EERREE & 120,237 136,239

FEEEREESRAA ‘ 65
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A IR R

At 31 December 2021 R=—Z_—F+_-_HA=+—H

2021 2020
—ZET_—— —EFF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T ARETFT
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Bank and other borrowings SR1T R H A {E R 25 - 5,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,503 7,501
Deferred tax liabilities REHEAE 30 4,065 4,944
5,568 17,445
Net assets BEEFE 114,669 118,794
Capital and reserves EXR#FE
Share capital A&7 31(a) 17,133 10,910
Resenves 1 144,489 136,829
Equity attributable to equity RARERRREGER
shareholders of the Company 161,622 147,739
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR 2 (46,953) (28,945)
Total equity R 114,669 118,794

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 207 were #EEe@pR T - —H®=-AF=+—HHILER
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  E#E F|3E M 4s & IR R FECIBE E207H ©
31 March 2022.

Wang Zhong Sheng Chang Jian
T BB B
Director Director

EFE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FoT——

F+ZA=+—HLFE

KARERRRELS
Share Convertible Non-
Share Share  General Translation Contributed option bonds Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
BRE AR
k& ROEE -KREE RERE BHES e EFRE 2HER B FERES ags
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR ARETRT ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETr ARETr AR¥ETr ARETr ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2020 W=%-%%-A-A
] 10,910 131,082 8,273 (12,690) 584,838 30,849 8,662 (676,360) 185,554 (32,411) 163,143
Loss for the year TEERE - - - - - - - (d0627)  (40627) 4,403 (36,224)
Other comprehensive income A E 2 AN
for the year - - - 2,812 - - - - 2,812 - 2,812
Total comprehensive loss rEEREBEAE
for the year = = = 2,812 = = - (oe)  (37815) 4403 (33412
Transfer to acoumulated losses AR EHTIH %
upon maturity of EREZHEE
convertible bonds = = = = = = (8,652) 8,652 = = =
Capital reduction of subsidiary KB 2 &1 & AR HI 35 - - - - - - - - - (937) (937)
Balance at gt et 23
31 December 2020 tZR=t-B&#H 10910 131,082 8,273 (878) 584838 30,849 - (p08335) 147,739 (28945 118,794
Balance at 1 January 2021 R=E-—-%-H—H
&4 10910 131,082 8,273 (0878) 584,838 30,849 - (608335 147,739  (28,945) 118,794
Loss for the year TEERE - - - - - - - (2,236) (2,236)  (17,430)  (19,666)
Other comprehensive income A [E £t 2 F iz
for the year - - - (1,213) - - - - (1,213) - (1,213)
Total comprehensive loss TEE2EERESE
for the year - - - (1,213) - - - (2,236) (3,449) (17,430) (20,879)
Issue of shares (Note 31(a)) BB (H3E316) 6,223 11,202 - - - - - - 17,425 - 17,425
Deemed acqisition of RIEWEE R ER
non-controlling interest - - - - - - - (93) (93) 93 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - (6,381) - - - - 6,381 - 25 25
Capital reduction of subsidiary [ B2 &I EZAER - - - - - - - - - (696) (696)
Lapse of share options BIRERN - - - - - (30,849 - 30,849 - - -
Balance at RoB=-f
31 December 2021 TZA=t-B&8 17,133 142,284 1,892 (11,001) 584,838 - - (673434 161,622 (46,953) 114,669

TEEEREEBERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z_—F+_A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—ZET_—— —EFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBET T
Operating activities REEHK
Loss before taxation bR %1 Bl ES 1B (20,012 (36,430)
Adjustments for: BT B IR
Depreciation of property, plant and P SN REBITE
equipment 49,623 57,732
Amortisation of right-of-use assets AR ESE 881 875
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #72 ~ #22 K & &R E
equipment &8 26,376 23,355
Written off of property, plant and ER Y& E s
equipment 315 3,538
Interest income F B WA (43) (31)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, & ¥ % - # 22 K &1
plant and equipment ZFREE () 6 (110)
Impairment loss on trade receivables EHEEBEREAT
and other receivables under JRE S B 5K K LA
expected credit loss model, W IE 2 BB E1E
net of reversal kR o (2,043) 752
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHKBARZ
W &5 (50,785) -
Reversal of prepayment previously SCRIBE 2 TR B
impaired e (10,906) (1,510)
Finance costs 7% 2 B 7,788 8,127
Provision for production safety costs EEREKAERE 3,009 3,376
Changes in working capital EEESEH 4,209 59,674
(Increase)/decrease in inventories HTE (Em), R (1,874) 358
Increase in trade and other receivables & Ui BR 7 & i JiE U
FIRIE AN (3,153) (7,933)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEATIE I, (R )
other payables BR 3 N EL M FE T 5RIB 645 (35,859)
(Decrease)/increase in contract AHEECRD) S
liabilities 380 (3,431) 5,456
Decrease in provision for production SEREBERD
safety (1,403) (871)
Cash (used in) generated from REXK (A EEZ
operations BE (5,007) 20,825
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT EPEREH (1,593) (3,022)
Net cash (used in) generated from fEEE£K (FTH)ELZ
operating activities BHE R (6,600) 17,803
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 December 2021 82— _—F+_A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
i e —T_TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T ARBET T
Cash flows from investing activities REEFHEECEERE
Payment for purchase of property, HEYE HBERREZ
plant and equipment (N (12,253) (14,375)
Payment for purchase of right-of-use ~ BEFRAEEE ZNXK
assets (504) (700)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary H&E— KB RARZ
F1S3E 59,455 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMSE HBERZEZ
plant and equipment FT1SRIA 86 776
Decrease in deposits and prepayments 7] % & & 1~ ZUIE R > 10,462 1,085
Interest received 2 FE 43 31
Net cash generated from (used in) REZFEHESE (FFA)Z
investing activities HEFE 57,289 (13,183)
Cash flows from financing activities BEETBHEL2HERE
Proceeds from new bank and other FTILIRIT REAMIETR 2
borrowings FriS 508 - 35,000
Repayment of bank and other BIRIRIT REMEFK
borrowings (200) (30,000)
Interest paid on bank and other RITREMERZEN
borrowings FE (1,638) (1,638)
Proceeds from lease liabilities HMEBEMSRIEAE - 6,000
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (6,652) (5,516)
Interest paid on lease liabilities REEREBEEHFE (1,124) (1,381)
Net cash (used in) generated from B & EE (FTH) FiE=2
financing activities HEFE (9,614) 2,465
Net increase in cash and cash HeRBESESEYEM
equivalents HEE 41,075 7,085
Cash and cash equivalents at R—B—-HZEREE£K
1 January HEEEY 25,880 18,265
Reclassification to assets of EFNSBABELHEZ
a disposal group classified HE4 R
as held for sale (681) -
Effect of foreign exchange rate Exgs oo
changes (2,336) 530
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=BA=+—-HB2
31 December BEREEEEY 22 63,938 25,880

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under the Companies Laws of
the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda. The change of
domicile of the Company from Cayman Islands to Bermuda was
effective on 23 April 2014.

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Company to be Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI and
wholly owned by Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, who is the ultimate
controlling party of the Group and also the Chairman and
Executive Director of the Company.

The shares of the Company are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section in the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas and coalbed gas
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company’s
major operating subsidiaries.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately RMB19,666,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB36,224,000) and as at
31 December 2021, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately RMB151,115,000 (2020:
RMB294,524,000). These conditions cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

—RES® (&)

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
the directors of the Company have been implementing various
measures as follows:

(1)

@

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), the ultimate
controlling party of the Group and the Chairman and
executive director of the Company, has confirmed that he
will provide continuing financial support to the Group to
enable it to continue as a going concern and to settle its
liabilities as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future;

The directors of the Company anticipate that the Group
will generate positive cash flows from its operations in the
foreseeable future;

Subsequent to 31 December 2021, certain construction
suppliers of the Group whom the Group owed an
aggregate amount of approximately RMB49 million as at
31 December 2021, which were included in payables for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment under trade
and other payables as set out in note 24, have indicated
not to demand for repayment for the amounts due to them
before 31 December 2023;

Subsequent to 31 December 2021, the lender of an
unsecured loan of approximately RMB24 million as at 31
December 2021 which was included in amount due to a
non-controlling shareholder of PRC subsidiary under bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2021 as set out
in note 25, has indicated to extend repayment period up to

31 December 2023;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

(6) As stated in note 23, pursuant to the conditional sale and
purchase agreement dated 2 December 2021, the Group
will sell the 97.5% equity interest in its subsidiary, &7t
MR AR AR Guangxi Beiliu Gas Co., Ltd. (“Guangxi
Beiliu”) held by the Group, and expects to receive a net
cash consideration of approximately RMB51,000,000
(subject to adjustments) after the completion of this
disposal.

Provided that these measures can be successfully implemented
by the Group to improve the liquidity of the Group, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for
the foreseeable future. According, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Moreover, the eventual outcome of these measures cannot be
estimated with reasonable certainty. Hence there exist a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and that the Group may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value
of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to
HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021, and the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (the “Committee”) of the International Accounting
Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs
an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to
make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendment to HKFRS
16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

The Group has early applied the amendment in the current
year. The amendment extends the availability of the
practical expedient in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 Leases
(“HKFRS 16”) by one year so that the practical expedient
applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying
the practical expedient are met.

The application has had no impact to the opening
accumulated losses at 1 January 2021.

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments relate to changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting
requirements and the related disclosure requirements
applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
(“‘HKFRS 77).

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant contracts has
been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during
the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. BRRIETE B EHREZER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (BEBMBHREER]) (&)
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

23 ERZESRBRE-HE

2.3 Impacts on application of the agenda decision

of the Committee — Cost necessary to sell
inventories (HKAS 2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the
net realisable value of inventories. In particular, whether
such costs should be limited to those that are incremental
to the sale. The Committee concluded that the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited to
those that are incremental but should also include costs
that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including
those that are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group's accounting policy prior to the Committee's
agenda decision was to determine the net realisable value
of inventories taking into consideration incremental costs
only. Upon application of the Committee's agenda decision,
the Group changed its accounting policy to determine the
net realisable value of inventories taking into consideration
both incremental costs and other cost necessary to sell
inventories. The new accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively.

The application of the Committee's agenda decision has
had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. BRRIET BB EHREZER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ([BEAMBEHREER]) (&)

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective: A28 :
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related EBBERE RBRANRIEBET?

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements

in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

e update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued
in October 2010);

e add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead
of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework (Continued)

e add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are
recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of
investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

e gpecify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that:

() the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and (Note)

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continueqd)

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2021, and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the
agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2021.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's significant
accounting policies.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be
observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a
case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or
assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets
and liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability
for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated
with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (Continueq)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to HK$20,519,000 and HK$7,501,000
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the full

impact of the application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that
were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
(such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant
property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the
proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and
measured in the profit or loss in accordance with applicable
standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance
with HKAS 2 Inventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

RSB BMBREER
(IERMBREER]) (&)

BRETENEI12RBITEXE
E-XEEFHEEREBREBZEL
#HE

ZEETNR_T_=ZF—A—HBx%2
BB FEREHMER AR
PFHERA-RZFE_—F+-A=+—
B -AETZEEINCAEEER
HEAEBZE®EED 5 520,519,000
75 7T K. 7,501,000/% 7T © A~ & B {3 7 51
HERZEEITNEETE-

BRI ENE16RIETEY
X BERRE - REHLFZ
Vet el

ZEFBETRIA REYE KRB
HRENHEAEREERTEN X E
ERMB AL E RN - R PTELE
IR B (flane Bl S BB - Has
REEE EREERELNEAR) K
ARHEZETHBNAEHIE ER
BEBNERN B ER M E %
FIHANRARBEE LSS ER B2
FHRE-

BB S T8 AR E s
BRAREREREATE -

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH

83



84

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

2

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether
a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the unavoidable
costs under the contract should reflect the least net cost of
exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of
fulfiling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure
to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental costs
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfiling the
contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the
Group has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of
initial application.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor
in order to remove any potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by removing the requirement
in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows
when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a
present value technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These consolidated financial statements also comply
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e |level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
investment with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins with the Group obtaining
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary after
the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal
of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate
or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment
that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the
criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues
the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is
classified as held for sale from the time when the investment (or
a portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

() Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation
Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component.
A significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the

parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing

component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration
for a significant financing component, the Group applies
a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during
the period between the advance payments were received
and the transfer of the associated goods and services are
accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

(@)

(b)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into on or after the date of
initial application or modified or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

(i)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of buildings or other underlying
assets that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

3. TESTTHE (&)

HE

(@)

(b)

HENER
HEANRBIMREmMSE TE K
By ] P9 42 11 RT 282 Bl B E M6 P O 4
MoRZANBREEEHEE

SN ERER B s 2 BT
(ERBEHREXBEHNEAOM
FARBRBEEEVHREE
AIF165E W EE NG Bk A
M WERY (mEs)HEZa
WECEBRAEBESHE-KRIES
HMEGRRRIRFRERORES
BRIBBEOS N TEHT G-

REBEREEA

() HHHEEREEEEEHE
HREH ARG B RES
12BAXARNETBEEBE
BEENETREMBARE
EME AEEEMAEHE
EmAM R HITHMEEE
EEMHERBERR 2 B
HEHENREKEEEEHEDN
MENRREREL S A
ARUEEERHBANERS
P o

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH

193



94

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(i) Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESTTHE (&)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continueq) (b) REBEREBEA(Z
(iii) Refundable rental deposits (iii) FREIFAERE

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-

use assets.

(iv) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
The lease payments include:
e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate

as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(iv) Lease liabilities (Continued)

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The

Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

The

the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESTTHE (&)

(Continued)

HE (#)

Leases (Continued)

b) AEBEEREEA (F)
() HEEEZET

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(v) Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(vi)

(vif)

Changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient
to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the
revised lease payments using the unchanged discount
rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only
if, both of these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct
conseqguence of interest rate benchmark reform;
and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous
basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding the
modification).

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not
to assess whether the change is a lease modification if
all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESTTHE (&)

(Continued)

HE (&)

Leases (Continued)

b) ~EBIEREBA (&)
(vii) 2019 HERIGEHEEE

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(vii) Covid-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021/2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

(viii) Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15
to assess whether sale and leaseback transaction
constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements
as a sale, the Group as a seller-lessee continues to
recognise the assets and accounts for the transfer
proceeds as lease liabilities within the scope of HKFRS
9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@ Financial assets

(@)

(i)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FERFHEE®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) E@MITHE (&)
(@ =®MEE(£)
(iii) +FEE R E

(@ Financial assets (Continuead)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
at amortised cost which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balance or
collectively using a provision matrix with similar credit
risk characteristics based primarily on the debtors’
aging profiles.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FERFHEE®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) E@MITHE (&)
(@ =®MEE(£)
(i) EFEERE (&)

(@ Financial assets (Continuead)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@ Financial

assets (Continued)

(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that result in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continueq) E@MITE (&)
(@ Financial assets (Continuead)

(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(@ =WMEE(£)
(i) EFAEERE (&)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@ Financial

assets (Continued)

(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FERFHEE®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) E@MITHE (&)
(@ =®MEE(£)
(i) EFEERE (&)

(@ Financial assets (Continuead)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XESFBE@#)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIAE &)
(@ =REE (&)
(iii) ZAEERE (&

(@ Financial assets (Continuead)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

e  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@ Financial assets (Continuead)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial liabilities and equity

@)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESTTHE (&)

(Continued)

TRMTH &)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) b) TREERER (&)

(i) Equity instruments (i) BAXITA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences BATEAZEHRHERBEER
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after HGREmBBER ZFIHKRE
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued wmZERE R  REFTET
by the group are recognised at the proceeds received, ZBRA TR TIIRFTEFIER
net of direct issue costs. BEBITHRAER

(iii) Financial liabilities (i) EFHEE

(iv)

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”).

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is () contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FERFHEE®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIAE &)
(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) b) eHMEERER (Z)

(iv) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continueq)
(iv) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

v)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at
FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in
the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial
liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such as
convertible bonds, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining
the amount to be presented in other comprehensive
income. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in
other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition
of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and bank and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FERFHEE®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) E@MITHE (&)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) b) eHMEERER (Z)
(vi) Convertible bonds (vi) T2 AR E 3

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a
liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component
is recognised as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound
financial instrument are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the note is converted or redeemed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continueq)

(vi)

(vii)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the note is redeemed, the capital reserve is
released directly to accumulated losses.

Derecognition/Substantial modification of financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of
a financial liability with substantially different terms as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. A substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the
financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESFTHE (#)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIAE &)
b) cHmEEKER (&)
(i) LHEERIARILETR EX

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continueq)
(vii) Derecognition/Substantial modification of financial

liabilities (Continueq)

The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such exchange of debt instruments or modification
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10 per
cent.

(viij) Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at
the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the
modified financial liabilities and are amortised over
the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continueq)
(ix) Changes in the basis for determining the

contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial
liability to which the amortised cost measurement
applies as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the practical expedient to account
for these changes by updating the effective interest
rate, such change in effective interest rate normally
has no significant effect on the carrying amount of the
relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark
reform if and only if, both these conditions are met:

e the change is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the change).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads
and borrowing costs.

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally
classified as property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to accumulated losses
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

QOver the shorter of
unexpired term of
the leases or 20 to

— Buildings held for own use

30 years
— Leasehold improvements 2-5 years
— Pipelines 5-20 years
— Plant and machinery 3-15 years
— Computer equipment 3-5 years
— Furniture and equipment 3-10 years
— Transportation and motor vehicles 4-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes the costs of construction of the buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery and interest charges arising from
borrowings used to finance these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time
the relevant assets are completed and are available for their
intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into use,
the costs are transferred to other property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of
infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the
driling of commercially proven development wells but do not
include geological and geophysical costs which are expensed
directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is capitalised as
coalbed methane development costs within construction in
progress. Coalbed methane development costs are stated
at cost less any identified impairment loss. Coalbed methane
development costs are classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation on these assets, on the same basis
as other property, plant and equipment assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Tangible assets acquired for use in well driling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use over their
estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives as set out above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to with the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (Continueqd)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories (Continued)

Net realisable value represented the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the

sale.

Employee benefits

(@)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance and mandatory central pension schemes
organised by the local government of the PRC government
are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

Share options granted by the Company to employees
of the Group in an equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement.

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the Binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability that
the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that
is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share option reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to
the share premium account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to the accumulated losses).

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

3. TESTTHE (&)

BERH (&)

(i)

LARRAD B EHE 2 ¥R

A — T8 AR HE 45 B DA B {7 AR T
ZNREZHRhARF B A EEE
BROMERE-

BYTREZEREZRFE T
HERE 3 0 B A AN 0 AR B IR N
s ZBERERFEE A FEIR
REBHMB —BEAREEEE
AE EPEERIROBARE
PR 2 R EG -HEREE
REREGRTZRBEERNAN
BEBRME AlETEREZA
RFEDIREBEHEARND
ERIERESSRB 2

&% Bk G D
>

=

REBHAN 2EXAHRRE
BREHEE -RBEFERR

RIARATFEZEMARE DRE
REERBENG A EEE
REBREEZRAEEHRXAI
BR AN 30 35 R A AR (6 S (R AR B AR
E-RERBR HERAFX KA
ST AT AR R S B AR
ZEREB (Y8 REREE
HEFEE) MR EEHEAR
m) {1 T (B AE B8 2 55 B MR 1 108
Wz R AR BR O o HE 2 SRR T IR
BREREANRR BEEBRE
BTE(EEERERMEER)
SBEREDE (ERBARGTE
1B ) Rk



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Share-based payments (Continuead)
Share options granted to consultant in an equity-settled
share-based payment transactions.

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at fair values of the goods or services rendered,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which
case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of goods or services received are recognised as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or services qualify
for recognition as assets. Corresponding adjustment has
been made to equity (share option reserve).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for
the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

(@ Provision for production safety
Provision for the Group’s production safety are based on
certain percentage of the Group’s revenue in accordance
with PRC rules and regulations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised
as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

A government grant that becomes receivables as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future
related costs shall be recognised in profit or loss of the period in
which it becomes receivable.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and the presentation currency is RMB. The reason for
using RMB as a presentation currency is that the functional
currency of the principal operating subsidiaries within the Group
is RMB.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group'’s
lines of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTEHE 2
(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) PEEHK ()
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for R BHREMS BRAERLEDE
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar T2 I BEBEBEULERR
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature MEERERBEHED £EBEMEES -
of products and services, the nature of production processes, XEPERSER  AESEE MR
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute HIRB A EUAREERBEEE A
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the M EE LRI BR SN o fin 3E FE(E Bl K 2 &
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not ENHMHEERBHEZFERL AZE
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority KEDERAIRE S PR IR o

of these criteria.

Related parties FE AL
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is @ fMWEBLATAL BIRZALTsiZA
related to the Group if that person: TZAHREARNEE B RE

()  has control or joint control over the Group; () PEHskERIEGIANER

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBEBEEAXE

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) RAKEEXAEEFAFH
Group or the Group’s parent. FEEEENKE -

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following b) WA TNHEREH  BNEEE
conditions applies: AEBEBRE:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same () ZERHEAXEHREBER %
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and ZKEB AR (BN&&AR M
fellow subsidiary is related to the others); BRakBERNEB AR

A RE) ;

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other i) —FAEBAS BB SE
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of NAlHEELE (IS —FE
a group of which the other entity is a member); BARKERAZEEETK

BRAIZHMERNRHEE D
x):
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(o) (Continued)

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(v) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) A person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(i)

(viil)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

0

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on aging of trade receivables as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable and available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. In addition, trade receivables with
significant balances and credit impaired receivables are
assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered
by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has increased
the expected loss rates in the current year as there
is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led
to increased credit default rates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 21 and 35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The Group assessed whether property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets have suffered any
impairment in accordance with relevant accounting
policies. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. The
value-in-use calculations require the use of estimates
such as the profit forecast, cash flows projections and
pre-tax discount rates. As at 31 December 2021, the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
RMB225,216,000 (2020: RMB371,573,000)
and RMB20,519,000 (2020: RMB33,149,000)
respectively, net of accumulated impairment losses
recognised of approximately RMB215,405,000 (2020:
RMB203,497,000).

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set-up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.

4. BETHE R &)

(a) & AHEE M ZHIR (4)

(i)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following critical accounting
judgements:

(i)

Renewal of gas business operating permits

The Group holds certain gas business operating
permits with licence period of 3 to 5 years at date of
issue which will be expired in year 2020 to 2022 and
the renewal of which is subject to the approval by the
relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of the directors,
taking into account legal opinion from the Company’s
PRC legal counsel and past history of renewals, there
are no legal impediments for the Group to renew its
gas business operating permits upon expiry without
incurring significant costs.

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB225,216,000 (2020: RMB371,573,000) and
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB20,519,000
(2020: RMB33,149,000) might have to be significantly
reduced because of impairment losses that would
be required to be recognised, and the Group might
increase depreciation and amortisation charges of
those assets where their useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it might write off or write down
the carrying amount of those assets.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. BFFHERME (2
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the (b) EEAREB ST HEREA
Group’s accounting policies (Continued) E2EREFTHE (&)
(i) Going concern consideration (i) HERKEZRE
The assessments of the going concern assumptions THBELERESIRAR
involve making judgement by the directors of the AIEENEXEARFERE
Company, at a particular point of time, about the NE E T HEERSEIEN RN
future outcome of events or conditions which are B R R A5 R - 1B A FI BT o R
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company NAIEERRBAEEAFR
consider that the Group has the ability to continue as SR L TR sk HE R Al
a going concern and the major events or conditions, RREHBELCERIBHNEK
which may give rise to business risks, that individually REfE - fe Al B B K E R
or collectively may cast significant doubt about the R FEREHKRGEE2ER
going concern assumptions are set out in note 1 to IRE SR ERMIE -

the consolidated financial statements.

REVENUE 5. Wz
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (@ HEFENZWEDE
customers
2021 2020
—E—-F —T_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Type of goods or services ERSREESE
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BIEHERHE 31,462 22,304
Sales of piped natural gas EERARHEE 140,409 140,212
Provision of liquefied coalbed gas REREEESR
logistics services m AR 75 229 4,375
Provision of gas supply connection REHRIERRE
services 30,312 12,438
Provision of coalbed gas liquefaction REEER BRI
processing services AR 75 12,713 -
215,125 179,329
Timing of revenue recognition Wi 25 e B BF
On point in time basis TRA R B A 184,813 166,891
Over time basis RBER R R 30,312 12,438
Total 85 215,125 179,329
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

(@)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural gas

Revenue from Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped
natural gas is recognised when customers obtain
control of the liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural
gas, which is when the gas is delivered to customers’
specific location. Invoices are usually payable within 30
days.

Provision of liquefied coalbed gas logistics services
The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the liquefied coalbed gas are delivered to
customers’ specific location.

Provision of gas supply connection services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 5 working days from the date of billing. The
Group is entitled to the final payment until the service
quality is satisfied by the customers.

Provision of coalbed gas liquefaction processing
services

The performance obligation is satisfied of a point in
time when the liquefaction processing services are
completed and the liquefied coalbed gas are accepted
by customers.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
its products and services such that information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts that had an original expected duration of
one year or less is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES 6. HtM AR KA HEE
2021 2020
—E_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Other income H g A
Interest income from bank deposits RITERZFBUA 43 31
Foreign exchange gain 4N W 2 890 -
Rental income He A 286 324
Service income R 75 A - 16,492
Value-added tax refund AT I E R 4,407 6,394
Sundry income FEIRIA 2,355 1,357
7,981 24,508
Other gains or losses Hihh =R &8
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEMSE HBERREZ
plant and equipment (E518) M= (6) 110
Written-off of property, Y2 - H B8 MR E M
plant and equipment (315) (3,538)
Reversal of prepayment SRR E R TR SRIB =
previously impaired (note (i) CPFREG)) 10,906 1,510
18,566 22,680

Notes:

The amount is mainly related to prepayment of the Group for the acquisition
of interests in land located in the PRC which would be held for own use under
operating leases. Pursuant to sale and purchase agreement of the interests
in the land, the Group had to complete land development by 5 August 2018,
otherwise the Group's legal right on the land may be forfeited. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, as the Group had not yet completed the
development and land had been idle up to 31 December 2018, the recoverability
of the prepayment was in doubt and full impairment loss on the prepayment was
provided as at 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the prepayment was fully refunded
to the Group by the PRC government, therefore reversal of prepayment
previous impaired amounted to approximately RMB10,906,000 is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

7. (REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT)/IMPAIRMENT 7. FAHIEE&EEERT (LR
LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS B), /BEESE fIRELD

MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL
2021 2020
—B--—-F —TETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F ARBT T
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised #t T 71| & IBRER 2 BE
on: (BE), B8
— Trade receivables — UL BR 3K (3,013) 777
— Other receivables — H A & IR 970 (25)
(2,043) 752
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 35(b). BB Rl B SE 1B B A T 7E35(b) ©
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MKEHR
2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F ARBT T
Interest expenses on bank and IRITREMERZFERZ
other borrowings 6,664 3,364
Effective interest on convertible bonds A #AR% (& % 2 B B FI| & - 3,382
Finance charges on lease liabilities HERBEZYVBKER 1,124 1,381

7,788 8,127
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRBiATEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRI AIESIEE MR AT &R

2021 2020
—EB--—-F —ETTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T

(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) E T R4 (BFEKF11H

and chief executive’s EERERTHAER
emoluments in note 11) <)
Salaries and other benefits Fre kAR 18,996 17,275
Retirement benefits schemes RRAE R FH BB R
contributions 3,228 752
Total staff costs BB TITRA 22,224 18,027
2021 2020
—E-F —E_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
(b) Other items (b) HAh1g H
Cost of inventories recognised BRAR X 2 FEKAR
as expense 173,259 108,412
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 6l 357 B 1,385 1,493
Depreciation of property, M MR R ERBITERA
plant and equipment included in
— Cost of sales —SHE A 37,426 44,084
— Selling and distribution costs — & Mo HHE AR 5,849 5,849
— Administration and — T REMAS
other expenses 6,348 7,799
Depreciation of right-of-use FERAEEERESA
assets included in
— Cost of sales —HE KA 223 211
— Administration and —ITERREMAR
other expenses 658 664
Research and development costs ff 35 I F B A AR 457 396

FEEEREBERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

10. FiIEH K %

(@)

MEBERAZHRIER:

2021 2020
—EB--—-F —ETTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BB E-PELEFRE
Income Tax (“EIT”) B(TEmREH]
Provision for the year NGRS - 878
Deferred tax EER IR
Origination and reversal of TR EBEEARED
temporary differences (346) (1,084)
Income tax credit FriEHif e (346) (206)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
continued in Bermuda as an exempted company under
the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is exempted from
payment of the Bermuda Income Tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no estimated assessable profits arising in or derived
from Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
countries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10. FRIEHER &)

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting

loss at applicable tax rates:

(®)

RERBRERFEZHFHR (K
%) /RAXBEGFT BRI HEN

T
2021 2020
—B=-—F —T_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARM¥T T AR®EFTT
Loss before taxation bR 5 A B5 18 (20,212) (36,430)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, LR B AR E R
calculated at the rates applicable WMETE 2RI A EE
to the tax jurisdictions concerned HEIE (6,380) (8,410)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses T~ AJ IR > 2 B i o & 2,656 7,730
Tax effect of non-taxable income BRI A 2 TG R 2 (1,442) 477)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary — RIER LI =5 2 %
differences % (8,389) (174)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised & FE A7 18 E518 2 Fi 75
4 13,384 4,604
Utilisation of tax losses previously B AR R ER 2B
not recognised E5 18 (122) (3,250)
PRC withholding tax R ETET (53) (229)
Income tax credit PSR R (346) (206)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(©

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January 2008,
non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place
of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or
place of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is
not effectively connected with the establishment or a place
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax
at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by tax treaty) on various
types of passive income such as dividends derived from
sources within the PRC.

Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement
and the related regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident will be liable for a reduced withholding tax rate
of 5% on dividends from a PRC enterprise if the Hong
Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25%
or more of the equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A
withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by a
qualified Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and
the chief executive of the Company were as follows:

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

¥ 2R

e BEWEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTT ARMTI

11. EERRSTHRAEME

ENHENEARREZERESTHRA
BEAZHMEIT

Retirement Equity-settled

benefits  share-based
Discretionary schemes payment 2021
bonuses contributions expenses Total
BHER URGAE®R —3--F
BEEL AR ZAMEX #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTn AR¥TR AR%Txn

Executive directors HTES

Wang Zhong Sheng TEE - 1,430 - 19 - 1,449

Chang Jian BE - 240 - - - 240

Non-Executive Directors HTES

Duan Shi Chuan Bl - 40 - - - 40

Wang Chen B2 1,500 243 - 51 - 1,794

Liang Feng Rig - 244 - 19 - 263

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE

directors

Lau Chun Pong SR 99 - - - - 99

Wang Zhi He T2 45 - - - - 45

Xu Yuan Jian BIEE - - - - - -
1,644 2,197 - 89 - 3,930

FEEEREESRAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

11. EERBRSTBRAEME (&)

Salaries, Retirement  Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2020
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
NREEE
e EZUR RNER RGO ABER -2
ik BMEN WIEIEAL HEMR  ZHREX Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARE®TT ARETRT ARETn
Executive directors HTES
Wang Zhong Sheng 2B - 1,465 - 18 - 1,483
Chang Jian (appointed on FR(RZF-NF
19 June 2019) NATHhBEZE) - 230 = 4 = 234
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Duan Shi Chuan (appointedon &I (R=Z=FF
16 July 2020) T ATABEZf) = - - - = =
Wu Kun (retired on BE(R=Z2=%2F
30 June 2020) NA=THEM) - 218 = 7 = 225
Wang Chen &R - 230 - 32 - 262
Liang Feng Zig - 244 - 18 - 262
Independent non-executive =~ BUFHTEE
directors
Lau Chun Pong LR F 107 = = = = 107
Wang Zhi He F2A 48 - - - - 48
Xu Yuan Jian fREBER - - - - = =
155 2,387 - 79 - 2,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, since
the appointment of the chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, there was no emoluments paid in respect
of the chief executive officer of the Company.

Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the
executive and non-executive directors are generally emoluments
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and its

subsidiaries.

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020. No inducement payments to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office were paid or
payable to any director or the chief executive officer for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2020: three) are directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the emoluments in

respect of the other two (2020: two) individuals are as follows:

11.

12.

BEERBESITHRAEME &)

RBE_T-_—FR-_Z_ZTF+=
A=+T—HLEFE BHRARAFERK
ZETHRABE - M AR E TR
BMEZEE -

XHTFHRTEERIFRTESTHAE
XAWMFE R LREMENRES
BHZEALTHARAREKB QA
M S ERMRHEHE MR ME

REBEE_ZE-_—FR_FT_ZTF+=
A=+—BLLFE BETHRAEARK
FREEHREEMAHE - REBEE-ZFT
T—ERZFEFT_A=1T—H
IEFE - W AMEE F RITHRAR
A SR FE A5 AR fR] A0 A AN &R B 3k in AR
B RENRRAE-

REFAL

AEEBREZRFALTH =B (ZF
“TFZR)AREST HMe RN
MEB-HMME (ZE_FF WE)
ATZ S BEENT

2021 2020

—E--F —TTF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREEF T

Salaries and other emoluments Fre MEMINE 632 701
Retirement benefits schemes RORAE F 5T B30

contributions 15 26

647 727

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

14.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

The emoluments of the two (2020: two) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

—E-2

— = —=

ZHENFLATEE:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB830,000 49 A\ R #830,0007T
(2020: RMB890,000)) (ZE-THF:

AR #890,0007T) )

= Z1,000,0005% 7T (HH 55

. BEHEALT(#E)

2021
—E-—F
Number of

individuals

A

FRMA)ESHAL

2020
— T -—EE

—= =

Number of
individuals

AEL

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2020: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share is RMB0.13 cents per share
(2020: RMB3.08 cents per share). The calculation of the basic
loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 is based
on the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of approximately RMB2,236,000 (2020: RMB40,627,000)
and the weighted average number of shares of approximately
1,766,281,000 (2020: 1,319,484,000) in issue during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

. BREE

EREARBEEEERERARE
013 (ZE_FF : R AK%S3.08
D)o BE_E-_—F+_RA=+—
BIEFEZEREAEBDIRERE
E-E-_—F+-A=+—RHILE
EARAEZBRRELEEENAR
D 036,0007T (ZE-_FF: ARKE
40,627,0007T ) & B 1TAR (D It ¥ 5
£ #491,766,281,0000 ( =& — T 4F:
1,319,484,000/% )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

15.

The calculation for diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2021 is based on the loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB2,236,000
(2020: RMB40,627,000) and the denominator used are the
same as for the basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is the same as the basic
loss per share as the effect of potential ordinary shares from the
exercise (2020: exercise and conversion) of share options (2020:
share options and convertible bonds) were anti-dilutive.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered by
the CODM to be primarily dependent on the performance of
exploitation, liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in
the PRC. Therefore, the Group has only one operating segment
under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating Segments. In this
regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is not
presented as the CODM assess the performance of the sole
operating segment identified based on the consistent information
as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to the loss for the year as
shown in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
total segment assets and total segment liabilities are equivalent
to total assets and total liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

14. BREE (&)

15.

BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H1F
B2 BREEEETBEARR R
AR R e BSR40 A R 2,236,0007T (=
T T F: AR¥40,627,0007T) 5T &
S MARHEZTHSRAER
EBEEMER #HEZTE - —FRkF =
TFE+ A=+ BULEFEAQAE
ERFRELHEREEIEEEGRER
BEAR RARKRATE(ZE=F
FoITERER)BRE(ZE2F:
BRERTRKRES) 2 EELRKREA
B REEBE -

2 E 2],

AEENKELEDBNREBEREFEEE
REAN(BREERRA] AARTA
EE2)BERDELRKRBAN G 2R
MEMMETE ERNARENAEA
BHUREFLERRARSERIKE
RERBERRK BRIEEERBERA
RHOKRB BEFELZERRALER L
K AKBENAB2®R FREAE
BHRARDEARBEER - Fit - R
EEBY R E ERIFHR L E D B
ME AEBEES—ELED - BLit
mE WEEFDEEEF

BN EESERRARBRE MR
RPRENSR BN M ZE RS
ME—REN MR AL &2
BRADBERHERINEE -

DEMEERBRENESBERAR
MAFERBE MoMEERENRS
MBEEARNASENGESWBRRE
PIRBREENRBRARE-

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ_-_ZE-—F+_-A=1+—HALEE
15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(@) Geographical information

For the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
all of the Group’s revenue were derived from customers in
the PRC (country of domicile) and all non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC, Accordingly, no
further analysis of the Group’s geographical information is
disclosed.

(b)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as

follows:

1

5. 7

4

(a)

(b)

EPA

Customer A

HEH (#)

HIEE R

HE-_ZT-Z—FR=-_ZT=-_FTF
T A=+t BLREEE M
BEAEEz WmHRERFTE (R

HFEZR) 2EFPRASBMEIER
BEEHMMN BB F I 85
BAEBMHERER Z2E—FT Do

FEEFEH
REBEFE REHAEE R
mBERBBEI10%ZBFE 2 W tn
T
2021 2020
—E-—F —TFTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARSI T
22,439 25,741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ—Z—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% HBERRE

Buildings Furniture ~ Transportation  Construction
held for Leasehold Plant and Computer and and motor in progress
ownuse  improvements Pipelines machinery equipment equipment vehicles (Note iv) Total
KR ik QIR ERIR
;=2 EBIR B BRRAR EH B BERZE KAz (izv) it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARET T ARETT ARET T ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost
At 1 January 2020 168,134 1,866 188,242 570,917 315 3,089 26,957 172,802 1122212
Addltions 5 - - 128 - 152 2N 13,824 14,375
Disposals - - - - - - (13,455) - (13,455)
Witen off = = = (0.404) = = 39) = (0.449)
Exchange adjustments = (49) = = 2 ] (108) = (162)
At 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021 158,139 1,821 188,242 561,636 313 3,184 13,627 186,626 1,113,588
Addtions HE - = = 1,014 16 151 = 11,49 12,677
Disposals e - - - (426) - - (3% - 818)
Transfer 2 - - - 6,058 - - - (6,058) -
Rechassfication to disposal o~ EHABAR{ELE L
held for sale (Note 23) HERRI (Hz28) (3,388) - (65,392) (9.387) - (889 (570) (26,065) (95,690
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 41(a)  Hi&—FIHBA
(BiEE41(a) (38119) = 9549 (51,597) (104 (%) (t54) 847) (102964)
Witen off % - - - (1,628) - - - - (1,628)
Exchange adjustments EidE - (19 - - ) ] ) - (66)
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ-£+ZA=1-H 116,633 1,802 123,301 505,670 224 2,149 12,168 163,152 925,099
Accumulated depreciationand 23t HTEREE
impairment
At1 January 2020 R=%-%%-f-A 112,045 1,681 76,170 410,161 309 2,753 23,626 53038 679,783
Charge for the year TEERH 4205 7 10442 41803 3 183 1074 - 57,732
Impairment A - - - - - - - 23,355 23355
Writen back on disposals HERE - - - - - - (12,789) - (12,789)
Witen off fi - - - (5,366) - - ) = (5.904)
Exchange adjustments EidE - 45) - - Q m (108) - (162
At 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021 116,260 1,708 86,612 446,098 310 2819 11,765 76,393 742,015
Charge for the year REERH 3713 il 9,799 35,218 2 120 700 = 49,623
Impairment B = = 7899 8,921 = = - 9550 26,376
Reclassfication to disposal group B A BAR{ELE L
held for see (Note 23) HEBR (K523) (1442) - (33525) (519 - (6%9) (514) = (33,685)
Disposal of a subsiciary (Note 41(a) (£ E—FIHBAR
(BiE41(a) (16,498) - 0242) (50,786 (104 (%) (¢14) = (17,341)
Written back on disposals HERE - - - (354) - - (372 - 726)
Witen off i = - - (1313 - - - = (1,319)
Exchange adjustments EiAR - (19 - - ) ] ) - (66)
At 31 December 2021 W=F=-F+-f=1-R 102023 1760 61,543 435,269 207 2016 11,122 85,943 699,683
Carrying amount EEfE
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+ZA=1-8 14610 £ 61,758 70401 17 183 1,046 77,209 25216
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FE+-A=1-A 41,889 13 101,630 115,638 3 305 1,862 110,233 371,673

TEEEREEBERAR
—R--FE£H
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under medium-term
leases in the PRC.

(i) The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

(iii) At 31 December 2021, the Group’s pipelines and plant and machinery with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB61,758,000 (2020: RMB75,506,000) and
RMBNIl (2020: RMB8,000) respectively were pledged as security under 2019
Finance Lease Arrangement with CIMC (Notes 19 and 26).

(iv) Included coalbed methane development costs capitalised with carrying
amount of approximately RMB54,080,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB82,573,000).

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Based on the management’s investigation on construction in
progress, certain construction in progress has been ceased
for construction and its future economic benefits for the Group
are uncertain, and hence an impairment loss of approximately
RMB20,376,000 was recognised for certain construction in
progress in Yangcheng Huiyang CGU for the year ended 31
December 2020 to fully write down the costs incurred in respect
of the construction in progress.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain property,
plant and equipment in Luoyang Shunhe (defined in Note 41(a))
amounted to approximately RMB315,000 (2020: Yangcheng
Huiyang CGU amounted to approximately RMB3,538,000) were
written off due to wear and tear.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

16. M3 - HBRRWE (&)

S

() HEARZBTFLETRRTDEOFEL
i ke

(i) AEEZEBMRBE-

iy R-B-—F+-A=+—R0 A£EEEE
DRI AR #61,758,000C (ZE =T 4F: A
R #75,506,00070) R ARBZ L (ZZ=F
F: AR¥8,0007T) 2 & B A # 28 & A AR 1R
HAREITVHN T NERERELH (M
19/26) + B AEF R

vy R-EBE-—F+-A=+—H BEAEREXI
B IS R 2 BN AN BRE B 40 A A R 54,080,000
T (ZT =T F: AR¥S2,573,0007T) °

ME BBERREREREEE
Z B AE R

BEEEEHEZIREMOAE ST&
BEIRBEIER HHBASEMNX
RS EH S FETEEY At 2R
HE-_Z-TF+-A=+—HL#F
ERnEGREGEReEXAEMNERET
2 1 SRR B B 18 4 A B #20,376,000
LA EEMEERTIRAMEENK
z]go

REBEE_T-_—F+=-A=+—H1E
¢F’/%Bﬁlllﬁu(E%ﬁlﬂﬁﬂﬂa})Z
ETYE BBIRZRE 2BHARE
315000 (ZE_ZTF  [EMBEH R
SEEBEMHARKS,5388,0005T) ' A&
BAE s o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

In view of the continuing operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2021,
apart from the non-current assets relating to Guangxi Beiliu
which have been reclassified as held for sale at 31 December
2021 (Note 23), the directors of the Company have performed
impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets in these identified subsidiaries based on
cash-generating units (‘CGUs”) as at 31 December 2021. For
the purpose of impairment testing, the identified subsidiaries in
the PRC are grouped under two (2020: three) CGUs — (i) Shanxi
Qinshui CGU and (i) Yangcheng Huiyang CGU (2020: (i) Guangxi
Beiliu CGU, (i) Shanxi Qinshui CGU and (jii) Yangcheng Huiyang
CGU), which the principal activities are sales of piped natural
gas and provision of gas supply connection services for the
Guangxi Beiliu CGU, manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed
gas for the Shanxi Qinshui CGU and exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane for the Yangcheng Huiyang
CGU. The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been
determined by an independent professional valuer, Asset
Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”) based on value-in-use
calculations as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

16. M3 - HBRRWE (&)

ME BBERREREREEE
ZRAERE (&)

ERNBE_T_—F+t-_A=1—
BIEFERPRERLENETHE R
ANFEREBRE (RN _T-_—F
T A=T - HEESHARKFEL
EMERILRBHEIEREEEI (M
i 23)) ARAEBEFERZT-_—F
T_A=T—HREBEHEeELEM ([
CEABNU)RZEFCEAZINMEBR

AZME BEhREBREREEE
EITRER - 7%1& TRBERR - % F
EFFNHEAR S AME(ZF =

TFE:Z@REEEEM (LA
KIBEEABMN NG ESESE
HEMN(ZTEZTF: ()BEALRRS
EAE B ()N IKIR B EE BRI

Kz BIEZREEEELM ) BFIA
FEXBRILFEINIKESEE B
EEBARARKERILLRREEASE
UIRHHBERRS WAL KES
EABUAERBEERILEERKLS
WEBReELEEMNHE BERE
EXER- R_TEZ—FR=ZFT=F
F+ZA=+—H %ZEReELE
7 #y A] e [B] & BB JY FR 98 3 B S (B RD
FHEEETEBEMBRAR ([FH
Lﬁi%%ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂiﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ {ETE

o B 4 B R 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continuea)  16. Y15 - #B8 R &t (#7)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment and ME - BERREREAREE
right-of-use assets (Continued) ZRERR (&)
cGU Guangxi Beiliu Shanxi Qinshui Yangcheng Huiyang Total
REELEN EAE LR WFEShk

2021 2020 2021 2020 2020
CEC-F S 3 -5 e z ZZCEE ZZCEE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT EENSSTN  AR%ETT NS  ARST NSRS ARBTTI
Property, plant and equipment - HERRE N/A &R 54,101 1,407 26,876 234,664 272,442 236,071 353,419
Right-of-use assets RREEE NATER 6,703 8,567 12,021 712 698 9,279 19,422

Carrying amount before impaiment & EEE (IBR(E

loss for the respective years E5847) N/A TEA 60,304 9,974 38,897 235,376 273,140 245,350 372,841
Impairment on property, M BEREERE
plant and equipment N/A FEA - - - (26,376) - (26,376) -
Net carrying amount REFE N/A FER 60,804 9,974 38,897 209,000 273,140 218,974 372,841
Recoverable amount hEeE N/A R A 62,700 10,000 42,000 209,000 276,000
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations: FEAREBEFEPEANEZMRE:
CGU Guangxi Beiliu Shanxi Qinshui Yangcheng Huiyang
BEELEN BEFE L

Projection period TR 5 years 5 years 5 years *9 years *10 years
N/A FEA 5% 5% 5% *9fF “10F

Growth rate after RAIEE 2 RE
projection period N/A RiEH 3% 0% 0% N/A RiE A N/A i
Pre-tax discount rate BRAEATAEIR X N/A FEA 27.8% 28.9% 28.7% 26.7% 24.5%

*

Based on the operating lease term
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on certain similar key assumptions. The management of the
Group prepared cash flow forecasts for the CGUs derived
from the most recent available financial budgets approved by
management.

The key assumptions used in the calculation of value-in-use
were discount rate, growth rate, budgeted revenue, budgeted
gross margins and net profit margins. The budgeted revenue,
gross margins and net profit margins were based on past
performance and the management’s expectation of market
development.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in prior year. As a result of the impairment assessment of the
CGUs, management of the Group determined that impairment
loss of approximately RMB26,376,000 (2020: Nil) had been
recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment under
Yangcheng Huiyang CGU for the year ended 31 December
2021. Under the prolonged unfavourable impact of COVID-19
pandemic in the PRC, the revenue of Yangcheng Huiyang
CGU has been dropped significantly and incurred loss during
the year ended 31 December 2021. Therefore the directors of
the Company expected that the revenue and net profit of the
Yangcheng Huiyang CGU will be decreased in the near future.
As a result, the recoverable amount of the Yangcheng Huiyang
CGU decreased and impairment loss was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

For Shanxi Qinshui CGU, no impairment loss was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of the
above assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of
Shanxi Qinshui CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of
Shanxi Qinshui CGU.

16. M3 - HBRRWE (&)

ME BBERREREREEE
ZRAERE (&)

ReELBEMA A KE S EREE
PTRUNBRET - AKEEEEMN
REBEHENSKOHMMBEERE &
HECTELBM R RETR -

AR EEREBENERBRIIMEER
RBEX-BERA-BREEMNER
FEME R FREUA - R RN E
RNDENBERRALEEB Y M5 %
RATEH] -

FrERMEEREZEEFHER AR
HReEXBMELHRBENH A&
EEREATERBE-_T=_—F
T AT —BLEFERGHRERSR
CEAXABMETMYE HERRE
R EEE O AR %26,376,0007T

—EFTF:F) - EHECOVID-19
EBERBTMAMNEET BHEGR
CEABMNEREBE_ZT-_—F+=
A=+—BLEFEREBEBTRILELES
B-Alt ARFZEZEH BRES
REEEBMNKRARFFEEE
AWK R D - Bt - B AR IR ®
ELXBMme B BRI WRE
BT F+-_fA=+—HItFEE
ERBEEE -

RLUFAWKBREELASBEMNME BE
- F+-A=t+—RHIEEE(=
ToTF T )MERRAAEEE-T
BEMBE FRBEHEREE]E
o) BA2EHUANKRESESE
BUMKRAEBALANKESELE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ_-_ZE-—F+_-A=1+—HALEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Leasehold
lands
HELi
RMB’000
AR®T T
Cost RS
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE=-ZTF—H—H 34,194
Addition NE 700
At 31 December 2020 RZZBE_TF+_HA=+—H 34,894
Addition NE 504
Reclassification to disposal group held for sale BNOBEARELE 2 HEHET
(Note 23) (M$3E23) (7,114)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 41(a)) HE—RE AR (M) (6,159)
At 31 December 2021 W_ZE-_—F+-H=+—H 22,125
Accumulated depreciation ?*ﬂﬁ ’%
At 1 January 2020 R—ZE-TF+=—RA=+—H 870
Depreciation charge TERX 875
At 31 December 2020 R_ZE_ZEF+_A=+—8H 1,745
Depreciation charge TEXH 881
Reclassification to disposal group held for sale BB ARELE 2HEAR
(Note 23) (MF3E23) (616)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 41(a)) HE—FHNBAE (HiF41@)) (404)
At 31 December 2021 RZE=—F+=-HA=+—8H 1,606
Carrying values BREE
At 31 December 2021 R_ZE_—F+-HA=+—8H 20,519
At 31 December 2020 WR_ZE_ZF+_A=+—8H 33,149
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continuea)

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying amount
of approximately RMB712,000 (2020: RMB698,000) in which
the Group is in the process of obtaining.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following estimated useful lives based
on the periods of the land use rights:
Leasehold lands 50 years

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

17. EREEE (&)

AEECMESHARE LA LHAT
BREE HREAELNARET712,0007T
—E T F: ARM698,0007T) 2
ETHBRIN REBEBIERERSBSZ L
Hb ) 1 th P A #EEE o

L fEREEERR LNEREREL
b {56 PR AR 0 T 51 £ AT 68 R 4F 8
WEHRITE

HELH 504

EREEERMAREERE DR
EFEDFTEINMT :

2021 2020
—B-—-F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Ownership interests on leasehold land R BEIFEE A E T i
held for own use in the PRC, with BOER R 2 - 82 T B
remaining lease term of between T F10F £50F
10 and 50 years 20,519 33,149
2021 2020
—B--—-F —EETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Expense relating to short-term leases N 52 B € /959 5% 1,322 825
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBReRHEE 1,322 825

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. BIEEE

Exclusive
right for
piped natural
gas operation

BEERAR
¥R CBRERN
RMB’000
AR® T
Cost 2N
At 1 January 2020 and N_E-_FTF-—H—HEZZ-ZF
31 December 2020 +=—A=+—H 334,811
Reclassification to disposal group held for sale E#H D EAFIEHE 2 HEHET
(Note 23) (MF3E23) (70,470)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 41(a)) HE—RIEB AR (MI&E41(a)) (264,341)
At 31 December 2021 W_ZE_—F+=-A=+—8H -
Accumulated amortisation and Rt #E R REE
impairment
At 1 January 2020 and RZE_ZEF—A—HBAKR_ZT_ZF
31 December 2020 +=—A=+—H 334,811
Reclassification to disposal group held for sale B0 AFELE 2 HEE7
(Note 23) (FfF5E23) (70,470)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 41(a)) HE—RMBAAE (K:F41@)) (264,341)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—8H —
Carrying amount E-EEE
At 31 December 2020 and 2021 R-BE-EEFR-_ZF_—F
+=BA=+—H -
(@) Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation in (@) EARTREEBRARE

Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
was amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 45 years starting from 2009.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. B EE (#£)
(b) Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation in (b) EAGHBREEEBRARE

Ruyang County B2BRER
It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline ZAENIBER B EE R G X
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang (R EMRE BEMREMIR
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and was HEBRARCBRERN WIZ
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the EREERB T ——FRBEH
estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years starting 285F 2 METAIEAFHANES
from 2011. 5 A AN 5 o
The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully ZEXENZEHEE R -F
impaired in 2015. —hFEREURE-

19. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 19. AT & RFEMKE

2021 2020
—EB=—F —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T

Warranty money paid for the acquisition 5t & 14 f [0 22 5F T U B8 2% 18

of equipment under sales and T2 RES (MIREG))

leaseback arrangements (note (i) 2,000 2,000
Prepayments TET I8 821 821
Prepayments relating to construction AR R SR 2 M TR K

expenses 22,796 23,220

25,617 26,041

FEEEREEFRAA
Reslaza | 199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

19. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continuea)

Notes:

0

On 25 July 2019, [LFEL/KIEZRAEIR 2 B B R A Al(transliterated as Shanxi
Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development Company Limited) (“Shanxi Qinshui”)
entered into a conditional equipments agreement with & @& & H R
‘A Al(transliterated as CIMC Capital Ltd.) (“CIMC”) (“2019 Finance Lease
Arrangement”), pursuant to which, (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to
sell and CIMC conditionally agreed to purchase the certain liquefied natural gas
equipment (“Equipments”) for a total consideration of RMB50,000,000; and (i)
Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally
agreed to lease to Shanxi Qinshui, the Equipments for a total lease consideration
of RMB58,320,000 in aggregate for a term of 36 months by monthly installments
inclusive of interest, with a lump sum handling fee in the sum of RMB750,000.
The lease consideration may be adjusted according to the floating lending
interest rate to be promulgated by PBC from time to time. Shanxi Qinshui shall
pay an amount of RMB5,000,000 as warranty money to CIMC.

20. INVENTORIES

(@ Inventories in the consolidated statement of

financial position comprise:

19.
PEE :

(0

e RAENRE @)

RZZF—NAFEA=-F+FHAB WAWKIER
BEREREERAA ([WANK]) BREgE
HEERAR ([FEDETEKHERERE
(- hERERERH]) Bt
(WK E GHREHE MR EFIEER
EBEETRERATEE ([R2E]) K
& & A R #50,000,0007T : K (i)l &b K B 1§
HRERFEER MR EBKERZER WL
kARG BHERBALEAARY
58,320,0007T * AHA36(E A (IZ A D HA - 8
FEFE)  BM—EFHEEE K ARE750,000
Lo HERBAREYEARRITIREGBLN
FEEEFIREL TR LFILKBERFELR
£ A R#5,000,000TCE BRES -

20. &

(a)

REEUBRRERAZEFE

2021 2020

—E-FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF T ARET T

Raw materials R 7,005 6,496
Finished goods BUPK i 1,397 820
8,402 7,316
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. INVENTORIES (Continuea)

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in profit

or loss is as follows:

20. B& (#)

(b)

Cost of inventories sold

BEEGFE KA

EREABAIAFABRZ
FEEBEZoMMT:
2021 2020
—B=—F —E-oE4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
173,259 108,412

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21. EUWERF & H b FE W FR B

2021 2020
—EB-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARMET T
Trade receivables JE W BR 3K
— contracts with customers —HEPZEH 1,564 6,103
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,301) (4,590)
263 1,678
Bills receivables JE W Z= 4% - 500
Other receivables and deposits (note) — E M EURFIA Kz S (M) 29,400 12,081
Amount due from a related company &Y #83E A FIFIE
(note 39(@)() (B 5239(a)()) 6,000 6,000
Advances to suppliers At R B R - 1,611
Other prepayments H M TER 5IR 10,202 7,764
Value-added tax recoverable AIE G E 4,954 7,220
50,819 36,689

o :

Note: Included in other receivables and deposits at 31 December 2021 is an amount of
approximately RMB14,523,000 relating to balance of the cash consideration for
the disposal of subsidiary, Luoyang Shunhe (see note 41(a)). The balance is non-
interest bearing and receivable within 1 year upon completion of the disposal of

Luoyang Shunhe.

R-ZB-——Ft+-A=+—Hit AHibpE
WHIBRIES BEALEH B R RIEBIEM
(RKIsEa1(0)) B RELEHABHTIELD
AR #14,523,0007T ° 45 & B % B0 7] 7
& %5 B A T2 A 15 — F R UCER

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of allowance
for credit losses, is as follows:

21.

FE W AR R B EL B WK TR (48)

FURER (REZEHRIKEEES
BEE) NBERRZREO>NOT

2021 2020

—EB-—F —TFTF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AR®EFTT

Within 1 month 1@ A A 1,320
More than 1 month but less than 118 A 12 1831E A A

3 months - _
More than 3 months but less than 31E A & 1E61E A K

6 months - 40

More than 6 months but less than 68 A& 1E1218 8 N

12 months - 66

More than 12 months 1218 A 1% 80 87

263 1,513

The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180 days to its
customers. The Group may, on a case by case basis and after
evaluation of the business relationship and creditworthiness,
extend the credit period upon the customers’ requests.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that were past due but
not impaired are as follows:

KEB —K4G TRFI0E180BEE
H-ALEE RS EMBERENLTIGHE
KRR EER EREFEXRIERE

EHo

B B RBE R U AR 3 2 Bk Bk 7

DigClNE

2021 2020

—E-—F —T-FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBT T

Neither past due nor impaired R BN RBE 1,320
Less than 1 month past due 80 HA > 1 E A - 40
1 to 3 months past due EHA1 23 A - 66
Over 3 months past due %60 HA 8 A 31E A 80 87
80 193

263 1,513

Details of impairment assessments of trade and other
receivables are set out on Note 35(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2. BITHEBREERESE

2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY
— Cash at bank and in hand —iRTT N FHEE S 63,938 25,880

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
performed impairment assessment on the bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit
losses is provided.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB9,869,000 (2020: RMB25,808,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RIRTT 2R RIFRITE B TR
BIF BN REREUF B - SRITHE BR 17 1K
PAE B R AT K % 4T 0 #8468 /R 50 8% 1) iR
e

HE-_ZT-_—FR-ZFT-_TF+=A
=+ —BLEEFE FAEBEHRTER
EITREN G YREHFHIRTE
AR Bt W EFEEEIE
ETIRRME -

R|EHR  NEBAARKHENR
2 RBESFEWH B ARKI,869,000
T(ZZE T F: AK%25,808,000
TT) c ARB AR B AL BAEMER -
BRI o B 2 HME & 32 {5k ) M0 45 [
EEMMETERE AEEEES
BERBETINERBE ZR|RITIEAR
BRI ER -

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

23. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED 23. P HEARFEHEZ—BHESE

AS HELD FOR SALE

On 2 December 2021, the Group with other party (together as
the “Vendors”) entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement with a third party, Guangxi Tongzhou Holding Co.,
Ltd. (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Vendors agreed to
sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire 100% equity interest of
Guangxi Beiliu at a total cash consideration of RMB80,000,000,
subject to adjustments. The directors of the Company estimated
that the net proceeds will be approximately RMB51,000,000.
After the completion of the disposal, the Group will cease to
hold the 97.5% equity interest in Guangxi Beiliu held by the
Group as at 31 December 2021. The resolution for approving
the disposal by the shareholders of the Company was passed
in the Company's special general meeting on 10 February
2022. Guangxi Beiliu is principally engaged in sales of piped
natural gas and provision of gas supply connection services
in the PRC. The following are the major classes of assets and
liabilities of Guangxi Beiliu which have been classified as assets
and liabilities of disposal group held for sale in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2021.

BzEE

AEEBEEMFTAOL (KEAEIES])
B2 % = J3Guangxi Tongzhou Holding
Co., Wd. ([EF R _F=_—F+=
AZBEIZEBBRHEEmZ Bt

AEBEREEHEMEARENEA
R B A R ¥80,000,0007T (7] ¥
)W E I R100% M 1 - K A A
EEMEMGEREFERORARY
51,000,0007¢C » I H & Fe A 18 - A EE
RZBZ—F+_A=+—A8TH
BEERERIL TS /NI7.5%R) 1
mo AL AEZEEFTHIARRERN
ZEZZF AT HEARARRBRER
RACBEB - BERIELRETERNPEMA
EEBAARBEE RIEHHERERR
BeTHRERILANEZEEENE
BEINEE-_TE-_—F+A=1—
BOEZE U BRAKRP S B AFELD
EZHEHERNEERAE

RMB’000
ARETF T
Property, plant and equipment L E R L 57,005
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 6,498
Intangible assets mvEE —
Inventories & 788
Trade and other receivables JIE S B 3Kk K L A P UK 5,655
Tax recoverable A Y |l 7 I8 593
Bank balances and cash RekBEeEED 681
Total assets classified as held for sale DIEAFBIELE 2 BREE 71,220
Trade and other payables JE <1 BR 3 K L At B 5 SR T (33,871)
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder & {5 F 3£ 42 B% i% B8 89 7% (5,099)
Bank borrowings RITE (35,000)
Provision B (8,724)
Contract liabilities ABHAE (16,749)
Total liabilities associated with assets HABARELECEEEHM BEE
classified as held for sale (99,443)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

24. B IR R E b B S FRIR

2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Trade payables FE{TBR X 57,778 89,822
Amount due to ultimate controlling B B AR I IR 5 SRR
party (note 39(a)(i) ( I 5E39(a)(i) ) 320 18,481
Amounts due to directors (note 39(a)(i)) &1 & F= 28 (i #E39(a)(i) ) 65 581
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTHT B A B 2 FEIERR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries KB (T 7E39(a)i) )
(note 39(ay)(ii)) 1,103 3,437
Accrued expenses and other payables  FE&T 7 St & E i FE {5 A
(note () CPREG)) 34,099 29,997
Payables for acquisition of property, Wik 2 - B3 R 1
plant and equipment FET3RI8 106,200 114,306
Loan interest payables FE T B FCF & 3,319 3,033
Value-added and other taxes payables {8 i N H b &~ £ 18 913 1,158
203,797 260,815

Notes:

(i) Accrued expenses and other payables included the estimated costs of (i)
dismantling and removing the items of property, plant and equipment and
restoring the site on which they are located, amounting to approximately
RMB3,302,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB3,302,000).

B aE -

3,302,0007T) °

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH

R-BE-_—F+-_A=+—HB EsHEIR
HiEMFEREREDRIRBEDE  BE RE
&8 B AR IRBIE B FTEH# R 55 2 fl st A AR
# R ANR¥S,802,000T (ZE=_FF: ARK

165



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25.

e M ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ_-_ZE-—F+_-A=1+—HALEE
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 24, BNERR R EAMEAKIE (2)
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the RMERAR BANERER(REZAE)
trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: ZERER DT
2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Within 1 month 11E& A A - 20,830
More than 1 month but less than 118 A & 1831E A A
3 months - 8
More than 3 months but less than 31E A& {E6fE A K
6 months - 687
More than 6 months but less than 618 A& 1E1218 8
12 months - 659
More than 12 months 121& A & 57,778 67,638
57,778 89,822
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25. IRITR HAME R
2021 2020
—B=—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT T ARETF T
Secured bank loans (note (a)) BRI ITE = (3T () - 35,000
Unsecured other loan (note (b)) R/ ff K (FI3ED)) 24,000 24,200
24,000 59,200
Analysed as: sk in' (N
Amount due within 1 year shown —FRNE| B2 FIB
under current liabilities (PR RBNE LIE—I— ) 24,000 54,200
Amount due after 1 year shown —F1RE|E 2K
under non-current liabilities (§|JBA3F/;|L§)JE BEET) - 5,000
24,000 59,200
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2020, secured bank loans carried various interest rates which
ranged from 4.5% to 4.7% per annum.

(b) Unsecured other loan represents loan due to non-controlling shareholder of
PRC subsidiary of the Group and bears interest at fixed rate of 5.15% (2020:
7.12%) per annum. Interest expenses on unsecured other loan to non-controlling
shareholder of the subsidiary amounted to approximately RMB1,240,000 (2020:
RMB1,726,000) payable to Chengrong Investment (note 39(c)) was charged to
profit or loss within “finance costs” during the year ended 31 December 2021.

25. (RITREMBER (&)

it :

@ A\—E-_TEF-_A=+—B BEFETE
TN T BF45%E4.7%2 FIRTE -

) EXFEMEREBECSAIEEFBKNEARR
EEBRBRRZER REF515% (=T =F
F:7.12%) Z B E F R L M B AR
ERBRRED 2 ERFEMERZABAX
W ANRM1,240,000L (ZFE =T F: AR
1,726,0007T) FE 1 X @b 4R & (F3E39(c)) ' B
BEBE_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HIFEH

BER] NZBzmER -

LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HE&E
2021 2020
—B--—-F —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE: ARET R ARET T
Within 1 year 1FR 5,998 6,652
After 1 year but within 2 years 1 & {B2F R 1,503 5,998
After 2 years but within 5 years 2 1& {55 A - 1,503
1,503 7,501
7,501 14,153
Less: Amount due for settlement 128 A AR HRE R 2
within 12 months shown FE (PR REEaE
under current liabilities HT) (5,998) (6,652)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& 2 HRE & 2 508
12 months shown under (FIRIEREBBFEET)
non-current liabilities 1,503 7,501

As disclosed in Note 19, the Group entered into 2019 Finance
Lease Arrangement with CIMC. Since the transfer of the
Equipments — pipelines and plant and machinery does not
satisfy the requirements as a sale, the Group as a seller-lessee
continues to recognise the Equipments and accounts for the
transfer proceeds as lease liabilities within the scope of HKFRS
9. At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the pipelines
and plant and machinery included in the property, plant and
equipment under the 2019 Finance Lease Arrangement are
approximately RMB61,758,000 (2020: RMB75,506,000) and
RMBNIl (2020: RMB8,000) (Note 16). The Group’s shareholding
is Shanxi Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang were also pledged as

security for the lease liabilities.

AN 1R A EEEPERT
V_E-NFREHELTH BARE
ERE-TEREE R BWARER
CHERT WAKEEAEHFAM
ANEBEEDRBY B3RS LR FINR
BENEZFRERENRENRER
ERAHEEBRE R _—F+=
A=1+—H8B BE_Z—hFmEH
ETHTADE ERERBENEE
RESRAERSBHOEABEOARARE
61,758,000 (T T F: ARK
75,506,0007C) R ARBZ L (ZE =
TF: AR¥8,0005t) (MIsE16) o A
& B 5 WL P80 7K FO RS 35 28 B 9 B AE IR
EHAEHEEENERR

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 27. iRRES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued
HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds with principal
amount of HK$21,238,440 as part of the consideration for
acquisition of the Nuoxin Engineering Group. The convertible
bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date and
are convertible at the option of the bondholder into 94,142,021
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per share.

The convertible bonds contained two components: liability
and equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
amounted to RMB10,544,000 was presented in equity as part of
the “convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest rate of the
liability component of the convertible bonds on initial recognition

was 23.4% per annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible

BHE_ZT—AF+_A=+—HIF
EW'ZKAET%TTDA;’%EEHE‘ZS&%E
7321,238,440/8 T2 TR A MR B
NERKBHEERZHOREA
BmREFBEETRAHEHAFER-
BEEFRHREATEERBRRESRK
0.2256 8 TE I AR R AIRAF TR
ME{E0.01870,294,142,021 I i@ A% -

?ﬁzﬂx%% SMIEZLD : BfE K&
BN VT HEREEZBD AAR
Mm5momﬁ;mfﬁmhﬂﬁfﬂ@

BiEHFEE] 2 — 80 R LT ERE
AmEEFRERD CERFNES
23.4% °

THRESAENSBE-T-FF
+=A=t—

bonds for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below: —A= BzZ8EF5 0T :
2020
—TETF
RMB’000
AR®ET T
At 1 January n—HA—H 15,604
Effective interest expense charged Bk BERMERX 3,382
Exchange difference P =% (1,167)
Maturity of convertible bonds AT AR (5 5 FI 2R (17,819)

At 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—H =
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

PROVISION 28. B
2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
At 1 January n—H—H 21,583 19,078
Provision for the year NEFE R 3,009 3,376
Amount utilised for the year AEZEH 2B (1,403) (871)

Reclassification to disposal group ENOBEREREZ

held for sale (Note 23) HE 4R (MFEE23) (8,724) -
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 14,465 21,583

The provision for production safety has been determined by the
directors to meet the production safety standards, based on
certain percentage of the Group’s revenue in accordance with
PRC rules and regulations.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

29.

TEREREBIHESRETBERA
FER BRASBREZETAD

WEE UWNELEERE2EE-

PAN
=

WEE

Sales of piped natural gas

2021 2020
—B=—F It Ik 12
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMBTFR ARBTFIL
- 20,180

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB14,724,000.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance
consideration received from customers for sales of piped
natural gas, for which revenue is recognised at point in time.
This will be recognised as revenue when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to
the customer’s specific location.

RZF_FTF—A—H ANRAESR
AR #614,724,0007T °

FRHEBETRENHETERARA
H&ﬁfiﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ'ﬁfﬁﬂﬁzﬁéﬁ/\%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
MR - HNEmmEHIEER A
bc’@“' B8 E BB T R

B )111

FEEEREESRAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

29.

30.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continuea)

The amounts of approximately RMB18,362,000 and
RMB11,756,000 included in contract liabilities at 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2019 respectively have been recognised
as revenue in 2021 and 2020 respectively.

The significant decreases in contract liabilities in 2021 were due
to the reclassification of contract liabilities of Guangxi Beiliu to
liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (Note
23).

DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the year are as follows:

29.

30. i

EHNEE &)

R_ZE_TF+_A=+—HKZ=Z
—hWE+=—A=+—BH B ASE
NEE BN AR18,362,0007T
& AR#11,756,000L 25 B R ==
TR _TFRAR/ME -

RZEZ—FHENEERERDT
BREARILRZENEBESEN»EA
HEAOBAREHECEETBANAR
(Hf5E23) »

i SE B TE
ERRBZELEREER

KR A B IFARR KR AR 2 IEE R IR
BEHORENFAZEBMNT

Fair value
adjustment
on prepaid
Fair value lease
adjustment  payments for
on property, land under
plant and operating Convertible Withholding
equipment leases bonds tax Total
ERE 1 REWET
R#fz AMLHEE
ALEFAE ZATERER ARRES B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARET R ARBTR
At 1 January 2020 RZZZZTF—-H—H (2,629) (2,298) (561) (542) (6,030)
Credited to profit or loss AR 237 59 558 229 1,083
Exchange differences BHER - - 8 - 3
At 31 December 2020 and S 3
1 January 2021 + A=+—-BEk
—T-—%—-f—-H (2,392 (2,239 - (313) (4,944)
Credited to profit or loss AAER 237 56 = 53 346
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - 533 = - 533
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ-F
+ZA=+—"H (2,155) (1,650) - (260) (4,065)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

30. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continueq)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

30. FEAERLIE (47)

ERRBZIELEHESRE (&

TH AR IRE T S AR E R I 4
RO :

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E_TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE B BIRR R AR
the consolidated statement of ZIEERIEA &
financial position (4,065) (4,944)
Deferred tax assets not recognised MABRZELERBEEE

At 31 December 2021, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of (1) estimated cumulative tax losses
carried forward of approximately RMB151 million (2020:
RMB120 million) which are due to expire within 1 to 5 years
under the current tax legislation and are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the Group in which the losses
arise and (2) deductible temporary difference from excess of
tax written down values over the accounting carrying values of
certain property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB33.6
million (2020: RMBO0.7 million). The cumulative tax losses and
the deductible temporary difference have not been recognised
as a deferred tax asset as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H &%
B AEREEATSBENELTTHE
BENEEMAT 2B EEE (ER
BERBESRELASE —E2R1F
WEE - Al HEEASE R R ZER
Tl F) £ A R #151,000,0007T ( —Z
— =4 AR¥120,000,0007T) K ()%
EMEEEBRRSE TYE HBERR
ERNEHEREEEN IR REE
49 A R #33,600,0007T (ZFE T 4F:
AR #700,0007T) - 25+ IEE 18 &
AR EREETREERRSELER
BEE DHREBRBEBREREERE
REBTARAIGEAAEEER 2 RK
JE ER A 55 )

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@) Authorised and issued share capital

31. EX K f#EE

(@) FEREHITRAE

2021 2020
“E--F —TTF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BRAEE it ] o= G|
’000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
TR AR¥E T Fhx ARETTT
Authorised ordinary shares of &FIZEI{E0.018 T2
HK$0.01 each: AT BB
At 1 January and R—A—BE+=A
31 December =+—H 20,000,000 174,064 20,000,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid BERIRHTE
- Ordinary shares of —BKEE0.01
HK$0.01 each: BT B
At 1 January R—A—H 1,319,484 10,910 1,319,484 10,910
Shares issued in share RERBHHET
subscriptions arrangement B (R (Hf &)
(note i) 758,516 6,223 - -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 2,078,000 17,133 1,319,484 10,910
Notes: B 5E

(i

On 31 May 2021, pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 31
December 2020 between the Company and Mr. Wang Zhong Shen ("Mr.
Wang"), the ultimate controlling party and director of the Company, the
Company issued 758,515,714 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at a price of HK$0.028 per share to Mr. Wang. Details of the share
subscription were contained in the Company's announcements dated 31
May 2021, 21 May 2021, 17 May 2021, 21 April 2021, 16 April 2021,
26 March 2021, 11 February 2021, 21 January 2021 and 31 December
2020.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.
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R-ZE-_—FHRA=1+—H BEX
ARIEREERARARAIEEER
BaE([EEE]R=ZE_TF+=
B=+—B%:INREHZE AAF
LA & 1%0.028%8 7T &) B 1% [A] F 5t 4 34T
758,515,714 B AR I {E0.0178 T iy # &
AR - B RGN RIEZFIBEE TIERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

31. EXRfREE (&)

31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

0

(i)

(i)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed
by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) and financial regulations applicable to
PRC enterprises, to the general reserve fund until
the balance of the fund reaches 50% of the PRC
subsidiary’s registered capital. Thereafter, any further
appropriation can be made at the directors’ discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 3.

(b) R ZEERE®

(@)

(ii)

(i

IR R ME
i aERERXARE
REDE(—AN—F)FA R

"Séo

]

BRI E A EEERER
EFBENBERRREHEBT
FEEEE ARBEAR
gEHRA (AR ERA])
KA B 12 5 A 2 B 7% AR 51
fmE 2 BE E B R Rk
1% E B 18 0% I B & 2 10%
EBE—MEES EEES
ZEHREDPEN B ARG
MERZ50% B -Hig &
=0 BB RE B E I
B o

—RiFEEE AT AEREAE
FEBR IAEEMER
HEIR DN E AR - —MRIFEE A
FADREMER225% °

BREREE

BREREEARRTAEH
WITES BB MERMNK
TEBRENRL AR
B& 7 Z#0 EREMNES
P A2t 3t DA B 40 /5 5 B B9 1< 3K
PITER AR B9 & R BCR T T A B8

o ©

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.

(v) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus represents the surplus
from share capital reduction arising from the capital
reorganisation in 2014.

(vi) Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represent the value of
unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
3.

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants
and advisers of the Group and to promote the success of the
business of the Group. The Scheme was expired on 18 May
2021. A new share option scheme of the Company (the “New
Scheme”) is conditionally adopted by the shareholders of the
Company subsequent to the end of the reporting period on 28
March 2022. There is no material difference in terms between
the Scheme and the New Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

31. EXRfREE (&)

(b) RE2MEERBEWN (&)

(iv) BEFHE
BREREBEERMBERERS
XM ERRELEZERLE
B2 o B R IR R T AESPT 8
ZERTRREEIE

(v) BE&E
ERABBER _ZT—NFE
REHREBERAEIR 2 Bk

(vi) FIERRES#E
R ESFEEREARQ R
THARBRESRITERE
mE D 2 BE ZFEERE
M EESFTE M ST R R IR ©

32. UL EURDBEREY X

2

RRARIREREST 8 (5251 811) TR
BAQAFIRER-_ZE——EFRHAT+AN
HRETHOBRRENAE LBEBT@ER
EEREM UK TFHERNGES
MoZtEMEBERMERSI RBEBES
AB MASENES (2B &ERB)
EF BERERBAAREREINER I
REAEBEBKIN -ZTEER=
T-— F AA+T N \BER ARAIRK
RRZEZZF=A=Z+ \B®mEH
RE G AR A BT AR T &) (37
s &) o3& aT 8 R T 5 81 89 R R R
BREER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are as

2. MREGEEURG/BER X

2 (%)

(a) REEARRARET

follows:
Number of Contractual life
options  Vesting conditions of options
BREZBE HFREEMH BRESHFS
Options granted:
BRI ERARE:
30 May 2011 27,957,078  Vest immediately 10 years
“E——hA=1H ks T#
30 May 2011 5,596,092  50% are exercisable at any time after the expiry of 10 years
1 year from the date of grant up to 2 years from the
date of grant; and 100% are exercisable at any time
after the expiry of 2 years from the date of grant up
to 10 years from the date of offer.
“E——hA=1H 50%F] A% i B B ke st M1 F 2K B B st w1 T#
FIRERS TR R100% AT R &K I B i M2 E 2
#) 8 B 1 05 BRI BRI A7 4 o
Total share options granted 33,553,170

ERLBRELR

TEEEREEBERAR

—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 2. UREEEURGR/ER 2
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 2 (%)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise (b) BREZHE RMEFET
prices of share options are as follows: EEMT:
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s TXEEHE_T-_—F+-HA
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31 =T+ —BLEFEZFEBEBTZAR
December 2021: N T B B e
Number of
Period during Exercise share options Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
which share options price  Outstandingat  granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable per share 1 January 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RZZB=-§ RoB=-%
-B-H FRRLZ TZA=t-H
RUAH BRETTRE SROEE 33 BREHA FRETE FEREXN i
HK$
B
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 3.81 27,632,328 - - (27,632,328) -
30/6/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 3.81 2,243,373 - - (2,243,373) -
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/5/2021 3.81 2,243,373 - - (2,243,373) -
32,119,074 - - 32,119,074 -

Exercisable at the end of year

RERATE -

Weighted average exercise
price (HK9)
MEFHTEE (B 381 - - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

2. UREEEURGAER 2K
2 (%)

(b) BB AE B RNEFHIT

prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

EEWT: (&)

TREBERE T _TF+_H
=T HLEFEZFFETZA

December 2020: NRERER )
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed QOutstanding at
which share options  Exercise price Outstanding at granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable pershare 1 January 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RZZ_2F R-B-FE
—-A-AH E3 +=A=+-H
RitAH BRETGRSE  BROEE AT BREE EREITE ERBRM AT
HKS
AT
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 3.81 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/5/2021 3.81 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the end of year
RERAITHE 32,119,074
Weighted average exercise
price (HKY)
METHTEE (BT 381 - - - 381
No new share options were granted to eligible participants BHBE_ZT-_—FERFT_FF
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December TZA=T—BLFE HMER
2021 and 2020. Bazatalma ER2EEREH
REARHE -
No share options were exercised during the years ended HE_ZE-_—FER-_ZFT_FF
31 December 2021 and 2020. TZRA=T—RLEEE BHERE
PRRETETTIE -

The options outstanding at 31 December 2020 had
an exercise price of HK$3.81 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 0.4 years.

%

—E-FF+_A=+—HZ
RITEBEREZ1TFEE A3.818
TG R N Z INBEF A #F B 50.4

o

.

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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33. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT

PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with in
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 9(a) to these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company;,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2021 and 2020 in respect of the retirement of its
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

33. EFHFENKEE

AEERBANEEREGIEESR
EzEE REFERHMERIESA
RPIRLBHERTEEETE (181
T&tEl]) -BRESFEIERBIUEE
ANEE 2 ERHE TR S -RIER
BertE BEEREREASARE
B R A Z5%[R 58 T8 & 71 8I1E H #
R 8 A ZHERA LR S30,000%8
e EHRENSREEE

P e

ARARRPBEKRLZMBEARSES
TEREZSEATEBTEM 286 1%
PREREAE ZAAB2EERAK
SECEESRAFAE REZEZ
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RERHER - YR BN RIE SR
BEHFRNELRIN2HEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to
the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of total
debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s bank and
other borrowings, lease liabilities and convertible bonds as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Equity
comprises equity attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2021 and 2020

are as follows:

34.

EREREE

AEEEREARAZTR2ABRRERA
SERFEKRE 2T RRRREMR
O] 3 - 3 4 F5 X EE AN B FE DARE

AEEEERYTERRASLEELER
B UNESTRRESRR@FER
RERMRNAIARZ 2 BHEEKFZ
MG FE EAREEBRZED
HE XKL T%{’Eﬂj.ﬂ%éo?%fﬁ%@zﬂ%é
BARGERE RSB ERABIRM T &R
%ZHx,mxﬁéﬁ*%ﬁ%ﬁﬂxﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
PUBEAS 75

AEENBEERHESELAERAE
ZM*%"Z%%“%ZKEIZQQ

%*Aﬁﬂ%%ﬂvﬂﬂiﬁﬁm) °%/\_/\
ISR R (L S (AR A
MRFTR) ©

?%K
81 751K

R-B-_—FR-_FT_FF+_-H
=t BzBEAEHRRLRNT

2021 2020

—B=-—F —TTF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt 5E AR¥T T ARETF T

Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMERK 25 24,000 59,200

Lease liabilities HEAE 26 7,501 14,153

Total debt waE 31,501 73,353
Equity attributable to equity RAaEEm R R E (R

shareholders of the Company 161,622 147,739

Total debt to equity ratio mBEHRERLE 19.49% 49.65%

FEEEREBERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continuea) 34.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3S.
(@) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

BEXREBRERE &)

755 B 578 R HME ] S0 EF b N ) &
F+-_B=1+—HItFE EBEAXL
BB BRI FEIEEE.
EWMITA

(@) EMIESSE

AEERHERRNERESRT
AZRmEMT:

Financial assets ERMEE

DA 5 5k AN 51 B
P LT R 3R R L i R LK 3R
ReMBEeEEYD

At amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities ot =R
LA $H pX 2N 51| BR
JE 1~ BR 3K B2 L A FE 1 5K

At amortised cost:
Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings RITREMERK
Lease liabilities HEAEG

2021 2020
—B=—F It et 12
RMB’000 RMB’000
rrnTr [EPNESS
37,663 22,094
63,938 25.880
202,884 259,657
24,000 59,200
7,501 14,153
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. 8T H (&)
(b) BBRABREEEEREE

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk, currency risk and other price risk arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. There has been no change to the types of
the Group’s exposure in respect of financial instruments or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Crediit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, bills receivables,
other receivables, amount due from a related company and
bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

(i) Trade receivables
The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk with respect to trade receivables as no one
customer is responsible for more than 10% of the
Group’s trade receivables.

AEEZITEZSRTABRER
R I ROR - Re MR
FEY)  FE T BRBRM EAl FE A R
BRI hEMERMEEAG-
EMTAZHFRRESBMER
B-ZFomIAZHABRER

RASBEERREBBETEL
ZEERR RBEZRRE FI=X
R\~ B R B K EL A (B AR R
EEEEELREANZFRR
ERENKAVEEZZMNEH -
AEBEEHReRIAZAREL
SEEENMERR 2T ALE

= &R b KR E R

CERAREASBENHFIER
HeWEaE SHAKERTHY
KRR AEENEERARER
TR R R B W R 5 - At
YK IE - FE U — ) B B 2 B RIR
NRITHEB -AEEL ERFHE
{A] 45 4 m X HL 45 B 38 08 4 6 DA
RERTBEEFSBNEERR

() ERES
AEBREWERMS X
BEEREEETRR BS
MEE-FEPEAEEER
AR B B10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueq)

(i)  Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as the entire balance of its trade
receivable as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were in

the PRC.

In order to minimise risk, the management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition are
performed on each major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. The
Group does not require collateral in respect of its
financial assets. Trade debtors are usually due within

30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group also performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables individually or
based on provision matrix. Except for items that are
subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables
are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment
histories for recurring customers and current past due
exposure. Impairment of RMBNIl (2020: RMB848,000)
is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative

disclosures are set out below in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueq)

(i)  Bills receivables
The credit risk associated with bills receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when
the entity presents these bills.

(iii) Bank balances
The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are
international banks and state-owned banks with good
reputation.

(iv) Other receivables and amount due from a related

company

Apart from the credit-impaired other receivables as
disclosed in the note below, the credit risk on other
receivables and amount due from a related company is
also limited because of the natures of these balances,
credit quality of the counterparties and the historical
settlement record.

35. 2T A (&)

(b) HHEREEBFERBEER
(%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

35. ST H (%)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continuead)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of

the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

(b) BAF5E PR EE R RREER
(%)

EE R NREE (&)
TRINTAREAZZBHRESR
BREFAAENEREENEERR

assessment: 15
Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying
2021 Notes  credit rating lifetime ECL amount
128 A 24
—E--F Mz ABEEFR BHEEBR REAE
RMB’000
AR®TR
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERATIRNEREE
Bank balances and cash 22 N/A 12-month ECL 63,938
ROEBRERE NEF 12 A EEER
Trade receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 1,564
FEYRBR R (PerzEi) 2 HRHEERE
Amount due from a related company 21 (note i) 12-month ECL 6,000
& s — Ak 1 R 500 (B i) REARREEFR
Other receivables 21 (note ii) 12-month ECL 18,029
Hth W k08 ( Pt =i ) 12 A EEER
(note iii) Lifetime ECL 15,466
( P i) PHEHEERRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueq)

35. ST H (%)

(b) Bt R ERE B REREER

(%)

= E R RORER L ()

Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying
2020 Notes  credit rating lifetime ECL amount
12EA%EH
et 32 M ABEETR RBEEER RE&E
RMB’000
ARETR
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERATIRNSREE
Bank balances and cash 22 N/A 12-month ECL 25,880
RITREBREE NER REARREEER
Trade receivables 21 (note ) Lifetime ECL 6,103
YRR (PsEi) 2HEHEEEE
Amount due from a related company 21 (note i) 12-month ECL 6,000
& Y — e R Bt 2 B SR (P i) REARREEER
Other receivables 21 (note i) 12-month ECL -
Hth e s00R (B i) REARREEER
(note iii) Lifetime ECL 15,781
(Bt i) PHRBCEEHR
Notes: Bt 5

(i

(i)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items by
past due status.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past
due information to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, these
balances are either not past due or doesn’t have fixed repayment.

The directors of the Company considers credit risks have increased
significantly and those past due more than 90 days are considered as
credit-impaired.

)

(i

(i)

SMEMEERM S AKECERAERY
B SRR FESRH AL RE2HE
HEEERTERERE RAETHE
RIEEMIRE EEFFEREN A E
EzafiErEEZSHENENEE
JE518

TR EERRERENS AEEFEH
BEE R EBRR B 1 SRR
ERBEERMN-R_ZEZ—FR=F=
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gl ek Bl B K o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35. 2T A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueq)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers because these customers have common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired).

(b) HEEREEEFERBUER

(%)

= E R RORER L ()
ERAEEEERREEN—I
oo AKEFERERANKRERT
EEPHRE ASZFEPA
KR ER R 7 RREFRE
& KGR AE P B SRR B B B 2 A
B BE 7 o T 3% B 1 B R B U BR K
EERABRNEN ZFER IR
BEHEREEBRANNEERE
fE (RLBREERE) G-

2021 2020

—E-— —Z°F
Average Trade Average Trade
Gross carrying amount loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
BEAE rofisz  muEn [EECEEES S E
Current (not past due) SNER (K 4H) 0% 183 0% 1,320
Less than 1 month past due ~ BH DR —18 A 0% - 0% 40
1 10 6 months past due @ —Z5E A 0% - 0% 66
7 to 12 months past due aB+E+=@A 0% - 0% 87
Over 1 year past due MEE B—F 94% 1,381 100% 4,590
1,564 6,103

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continuead)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuead)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
provided impairment allowance for trade receivables,
based on the provision matrix. The impairment allowance
amounted to RMB1,301,000 (2020: RMB4,590,000) as at

31 December 2021.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach.

?.%Aﬁﬂ SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

35. 2T A (&)

(b) MR ERE B ERBUER

(#&)

EEREKRRERE (&)
BT —4F+_-_HA=+—H
LtHEE AEERBREEEERM
FEWERFIRAERE R=F
——F+=-—A=+—H REHE
A AR 1,301,000 (=ZF =
T : ARM4,500,0007T) °

TR R R LA 5 78 U BR X
EANEHEAMEEERE

Lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired)

HEHEE

EBE(BEHR

WEERE)

RMB’000

AR®ETF T

As at 1 January 2020 N_E-_FF—H—H 3,813
Impairment losses recognised BERERBERSE 848
Impairment losses reversed VERIEY = 4E] (71)
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZBE_TFE+_HA=+—H 4,590
Impairment losses reversed BB B E (3,013)
Reclassification to disposal group held for sale ~ B D EABIEHE 2 HEHET 88)
Release on disposal of subsidiaries k= NN =N liad 7 23 (188)

As at 31 December 2021 W_ZE_—F+-_HA=+—8H 1,301
FEEEREESRAA

—E--FEH

187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. M A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MERBEEEEREE
(Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERRRRENM. (&)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are RRER 2 BEEBEEESHHIEE
mainly due to: AR :
2021 2020
—E-—F e e 3
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Increase in days past due over 260 HA B 208 N8 @180 H
180 days resulted in an B EEE AL M
increase in loss allowance - 848
Settlement in full of trade receivables  BEAE B FERER
which were impaired in previous years & 5 & 318 (3,013) (71)
Reclassification to disposal group ENOBABELEZ
held for sale &4 R (88) -
Release on disposal of subsidiaries A sk=AL NN NGTERS A S (188) =
(3,289) 777
The following tables show recondiliation of loss allowances T 2% 51 7R B B At 8 YR IE W R A
that has been recognised for other receivables. EEREL R
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
ZHEHEE
EBiE(EHR
WEERE)
RMB’000
AR¥ET T
As at 1 January 2020 N_ZE_TF—H—H 7,497
Impairment loss reversed (B B 18 ol (25)
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZF_FF+_A=+—H 7,472
Impairment loss reversed (B B 8 £ [al (86)
Impairment loss recognised E#ERREEE 100
Reclassification to disposal group held for sale ~ B D EABIEHE 2 HEHET )
Release on disposal of subsidiaries RSB R R R AR b (100)
As at 31 December 2021 W_ZE-_—F+-H=+—8H 7,381
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueq)
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are
mainly due to:

35. 8T H (&)
(b) BBRABREEEEREE

(%)

=ERMBKRETE (&)
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂl&
FERR

XA R ENES TS

2021 2020
—E-—& —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Changes in average loss rate/Net THBAXREY B
remeasurement of loss allowance BRIBEEFTTEFE 100 -
Settlement in full of other receivables &4 1~ 38 1 & R E HY
which were impaired in H A & YRR
previous years - (29)
Write-off of other receivables 60 85 EL b, & KUK T (86) -
Reclassification to disposal group B D EARFE Hj -4
held for sale & 48 7 (5) -
Release on disposal of subsidiaries R E B A R AR (100) -
(91) (25)
Liquidity risk REE
Individual operating entities within the Group are AEEETZ2EYEEEREAR
responsible for their own cash management, including the EEXEZHSER BREES
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of B Z R EREREERAM
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board CHEHR TR HEAEESS

of directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

WESAEE - NEBZBRS
FHEREN LB ZRBES
TR MEBFEERE 2B A
BRASERAER TN AESS
BN S RS EG B S H A
FERE UnmeHEEHEEH
mBEE 2 BN

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continuead)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay:

35. ST H (%)

(b)

MBEREREBEERBER
(%)

RBEEEE (&)
TREINAEREZFFTETRA
BERHRE R NAEF I ERF
ERBTAENH HEREHR
MRReRE (BREERADR
ek (RFR)BMERR A
T ERFE 2 MEMR) RAEE
ATERZ&FAYMERE

2021 2020
—§--f 5%
Morethan  More than Total More than More than Total
Within iyearbut  2yearsbut  contractual Within Tyearbut  2yearsbut contractual
Effective 1 year or less than less than  undiscounted Carrying Effective 1 year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carying
interestrate  on demand 2years Syears  cash flows ELTi@  interestrate o demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
15/ Y] ELl
AR 1)L ®HE AERRE HE)E 2N E
EREE 2R 5ENA HELE BEE ERHE BXE P SR HEf
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 % RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE#TR  ARBTR  ARMTZ  AR®TR  ARETR % ARBTT ARETn  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
Non-derivative Financial FiEeMaE
liabilities
Trade payables LE NATER 57,178 - - 51,778 51,778 NARER 80,822 = = 89822 89822
Amount due to utimate controling  FE TR IERAFIFE
party NATER 320 - - 320 320 NARER 18481 - - 18,481 18,481
Amounts due to directors Ef{E%52 NATER 6 - - 65 6 NATER 561 - - 581 581
Amounts due tonon-controling TR A 2
shareholders of subsidares BRRA NATER 1,108 - - 1,103 1108 NARER 3497 - - 3437 3437
Accrued expenses and R REDEMNHE
other payables NATER 37418 - - 37418 37418 NATER 33,030 = = 33,030 33,030
Payables for acquistion of property, M8 #% BERREL
plant and ecuipment Eff5a NATER 106,200 - - 106,200 106200 NARER 114306 - - 114,306 114,306
Bank and other borrowings RAREMER 5.15% 25,285 - - 25,235 24,000 45%107.12% 32971 30973 - 63,944 59,200
Lease lioities HEAR 10.28% 6415 1,555 - 7970 7,501 10.28% 7776 6415 1,55 16,746 14,183
234534 1,555 - 236,089 234,385 300404 37,388 1,555 39347 33010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. €T B (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HBEKREEEEREE

(Continueq)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to primarily
to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow interest rate
risk of the Group relates primarily to their variable-rate
bank deposits and lease liabilities. The management
considers that the exposure to interest rate risk on bank
deposits is insignificant. For borrowings which are fixed-rate
instruments is insensitive to any change in interest rates. A
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period
would not affect profit or loss. The cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the interest
rate to be promulgated by the People’s Bank of China
(“PBOC”) arising from the Group’s RMB denominated lease
liabilities. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s loss for the year by approximately
RMB158,000 (2020: RMB367,000). The sensitivity analysis
above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s
loss for the year that would arise in respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest risk arising from floating rate lease
liabilities held by the Group.

(%)

=R E R

AREE 2 R FENEEREE MR
HERBERER -AEEZES
MENEREREEEELFBRTT
FREHERERR -BEEER
& RITIE R F R E R ARE L
TER-BRELSTEZERY
ERF RSB R ENK HREH
RzMEZHragEiEm-B
ERENEXEREIZEPNRAE
BAARBHEZHERBME
EZBHaHREARET(TATT])
Do 2 MR E) o NEE R I
EALAIA RSN - AT B
BeEsmMERER ITHERS
B E B E AN R AR -

BB ST
RZE_—F+=—HA=+—8"
ERMBEEMEHAERTTENBR
T A ETF R E a1 N, A 501
BB BUARS EF RNEEEMmS
B %) AR #158,000T (ZF =
T AR¥367,0007T) o Ltz
BREMNBT AKEEREEZ
FEHERBEMEAZRERE
FEREBREESAEEFAEE
35 BB B2 ) o
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—E--5EH

191



192
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continueq)

Currency risk
(i) Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by
the PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance of
earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the availability
of foreign currency (which depends on the foreign
currency denominated earnings of the Group) or must
be arranged through the PBOC with government

approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions
are denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exposure

should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continueq)

Currency risk (Continuead)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as follows:

(ii)

35. 2T A (&)

(b) MR EE B FERBUER
(%)

EMER (&)

() EXEpRE(E)
RmER AEE A
EEERNEEEUIEE
Bz FEEBEEZRE
(EVERNE

Exposure to foreign currency

S [ B A
2021 2020
—EB-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY
— Hong Kong dollars — BT 54,069 72

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated
losses in response to reasonably possible changes in
the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

(i) BREEAH
TERHEP RESHR A%
B FEEE R R A RE
EAEEERESARAEY
Bk ARUEEHHES
2R E

2021 2020

—B--F —T-TF
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss after (decrease) loss after
in foreign taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rates losses rates losses
HHEEBE HHi&EE
Bt/ REFTHR S-Sy F
(T &) 2 (&) a7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREFT
Hong Kong dollars BT 5% (2,703) 5% 4
(5%) 2,703 (5%) 4

TEEEREEBERAR

—E--FEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continueq)

Currency risk (Continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant. Results of the analysis as presented
in the above table represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the group entities’ loss for the year.
The stated changes are used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management and represent
management’s assessment of reasonably possible
changes in foreign exchange rates over the period until
the end of the next reporting period. The analysis is

performed on the same basis for 2020.

Other price risk
Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil and

gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group'’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations of
crude oil and refined and gas products. The management
will consider hedging oil and gas exposure should the need

arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
due to their short term maturities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following significant capital commitments
contracted but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements:

35. 8T H (&)
(c) EMI A AFEFE

RZEZ—FRZZT_TF+=
A=+—8 AEEZRK NS #
HRAYIRz ST AZERE
BEAFERESEAEZR WD
R HBREE -

36. RIE

REBREEVBRRE FTHERRE
B2 ERERAENT

2021 2020
—B=—-F —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T

Acquisition of property, plant and Wi 2 - B8 MR 1
equipment (including construction (BEEEIRE)

in progress)

27,543 30,978

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  37. &R HE&REXRK
OF CASH FLOWS
() Changes in liabilities arising from financing () MEZHEE2EEED
activities

TRINTAFEASEBE LD

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities

arising from financing activities during the year: EEvBEY
Total liabilities
Bank and other Lease Convertible from financing
borrowings liabilities bonds activities
BITR BEEEHEL
HitifE R HERE ARRES iOEEN=i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ETR AR¥TR ARETR
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-TF—H—H 55,507 13,669 15,604 84,780
Interest expense recognised B HERF 8% H 3,364 1,381 3,382 8,127
Changes in cash flows Renmed 3,362 (897) — 2,465
Non-cash changes #iﬁéﬁ'@} (3,033) - (18,986) (22,019)
At 31 December 2020and ~ R-Z-TF
1 January 2021 +ZA=+—-HkK
“Z-—%—H—H 59,200 14,153 - 73258
Interest expense recognised B HERF 8% H 6,664 1,124 = 7,788
Changes in cash flows ReRegy (1,839) (7.776) = (9,614)
Reclassification to BN BRRE
disposal group held HEZHEAR
for sale (35,000 - — (35,000)
Non-cash changes ERe2 (5,026) - - (5,026)
At 31 December 2021 R_B_—%
+=A=+-H 24,000 7,501 - 31,501

(i) Major non-cash transaction

(i) EXFRERS

FEIB UM EES1(@)FTEL - A AR B
2%£17758,515,714 0% &= ix E 150.01
BTHEBER -BE_T - —F
+—A=+—BLEFEE BT
7 0% /9 32 B8 20 IE 49 221,238,000
B WIREN&RERS S
# AR #E17,425,000C 45 E -

As detailed in Note 31(a), a total of number of 758,515,714
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were
issued. The subscription monies for the new shares
issued amounted to approximately HK$21,238,000 and
was settled against approximately RMB17,425,000 of the
amount due to ultimate controlling party during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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38.

39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI IRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#Z-—ZE-—F+-A=+—HALEE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s shareholding
in Shanxi Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang and certain pipelines
and plant and machinery were pledged as security for lease
liabilities of the Group (Notes 16 and 26).

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the directors
are of the view that the following are related parties of the
Group:

Name of party Relationship

WKBRRRERRE
T A (transliterated as
Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment
Limited) (“Chengrong
Investment”)

Effectively owned 17% equity
interest in Wanzhi Logistics as
a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary.

T ACES SN ]
[R A &) (transliterated as
Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited)
(“Yangcheng Yangtai”)

Effectively owned 20% equity
interest in Yangcheng
Huiyang as a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary.

E0 N B K B IR B 1 AR 75 A TR
X Bl (transliterated as
Zhengzhou Zhengcheng
Energy Technology
Service Company Limited)
(“Zhengzhou Zhengcheng”)

Effectively owned 20% equity
interest in Yangcheng
Huiyang as a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary.

38.

39.

EEHRR

RZE-Z—FR-_ZF-_ZF+=A
=+ — 8 ANEBR L FEID KR G5
BEHRERETEBRESARSE
WEFAEAEEREEEN KRR
(MzE16%226) °

EXBEALIRS

BT - —Fr-_ZFE-_FF+_4
=+ —BLEEE EFERBETINEH

BAREEZEEAT:
FREELER ERES
IO IK SR BX EU I & EA—RERBR
BREELR A EIE 224
(X E ) ERHEEEE
YD 917 %%
AR o
A B3-S EA—MEHBA
BEXERAA Al 2 FEFE AR A%
(I 53 ]) REBESG
2[5 #9120%
AR A fE % o
B B AKX RE R T EA—EH B A
M AR 7 A R A 7] A 2 FEFE AR A%
(Iesm gac]) RERESG
2= 5 H120%
A& AR 25 o
TEAEREEERAT

—E--5EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. ERBEALTRE (£)

(Continued)
(@) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group and the

Company had the following balances with related parties:

() Amount due from a related company

(a) BEAEALZ&EER

RZBE-_—FR_FE_ZTF+—
A=+—H8 A&EBRARAAH
BEALTAE TG :

() FEW— BRI A SRRIE

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year

FARS
KREESHE

2021 2020

—EB_—F —E-FF
Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEALTEE AR¥T T AREFT AR®T T
Yangcheng Yangtai 5 5[5 2= 6,000 6,000 6,000

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

(i) Amounts due to ultimate controlling party/directors/
former directors/non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

(iiiy Other borrowings

Name of related party
BEALESE

Chengrong Investment 2% g 1% &

ZEBRFAR/EBERT 2

(i) EBNBRKERSEE A
N

B HWERAERZFERR
%djh iz |
%5

(i) HERK

2020

=F=—F —FT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
INESH S RETT
24,000 24,200
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

(©)

(d)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and
the chief executive as disclosed in note 11 and certain of
the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 12, is as

39. EXBAEANLTRS (&)

(b) TEEEAEZFH M

RAEBEFEEBABZHFEM(E
o RIR M SR R B 124K B 2
ENARRIEZE RRTHAR
METERRFMEE Z25E )M

follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Short-term employee benefits 5 HE B 48 A 4,473 3,243
Post-employment benefits BB RN 104 105

Total remuneration is included in FrEEEET A T8 TAA ]

“Staff costs” (note 9(a)) (MI3E9(a) ) 4,577 3,348

The Group entered into the following material related party
transactions during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020:

Name of related party Nature of transaction
BEALER REHE

Chengrong Investment Loan interest expense
REIRE BEXFERAX

() Bz _—FR_ZT_ZTF

TZA=T—HLFE FX&£E
BRI FIERBEEALR S

2021 2020
—E-—F e e 3
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®ETFTT

1,240 1,726

As stated in Note 31(a) and Note 37(ii), the Company
issued 758,515,714 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at a price of HK$0.028 per share, which was for settled
against approximately RMB17,425,000 of the amount of
due to ultimate controlling party during the year ended 31
December 2021.

(d) 2B 5231 (a) & M 5E37 (i) ATt - &

ZE_T-_—F+-HA=+—8H
It FE - ANRQE A FH0.028%
TR B 18 3 17758,515, 714Kk &
REBEOOVE T LMk 1%
ERNEEERFEBOARE
17,425,000 45 & -

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. KA R FEMB AT ZE1E

OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 RZZE=Z—F+=-A=+—H &R
December 2021 are as follows: AEEMBARZFFBNT :

Proportion of
ownership interest

200

R A
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up  Group’s
establishment/ share/registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct Indirect Principal activities
EMAL ERTRAMKRE FEEZ
WEARAR R/ e ZMEAFE BRER E# B TEER
WAGRIEREERERER AT PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% ~ Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi Yangcheng H HK$83,000,000 REER
Shuntai Energy Development Company A AR
Limited) (“Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai”) 83,000,000/ 1
(notes (a))
LEGRIEREERERERAR
(MLuAEBHIER]) (FiEe)
Shanxi Qinshui (notes (a) and (d)) PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Manufacture and sales of
ALk (et @) R (d) i HK$350,000,000 liquefied coalbed gas
BRIIEE HERHEERIEER
350,000,000/ 7T
BRELTRRERAR PRC Registered capital of ~ 97.5% - 97.5% Sales of piped natural
(transliterated as Guangxi Beiliu Gas i RMB33,212,567 gas and provision of
Company Limited) (note (b)) A AR gas supply connection
ERELRMRERAR (FiEb) AR #33,212,5677C services
HEBEBAARRRME
iR B R
AILIEREERBR AR PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% ~ Sales of liquefied
(transliterated as Hebei Shuntai Energy ~ /° RMB87,280,000 coalbed gas
Company Limited) (note (a)) A AR HERILEER
AIIEZRE R AR R F (FiE) AR 87,280,000
LEEEMRERAR PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83% Provision of liquefied coalbed
(transliterated as Shanxi Wanzhi i RMB60,000,000 gas logistics services
Logistics Limited) (‘Wanzhi Logistics”) A AR RERCEER IR RS
(note () AR 60,000,0007%
LAEEEDRER AT

(r8smnrl) (M)

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

40. RAREEMB AR 2FE

(%)

Proportion of

ownership interest

R A
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up  Group’s
establishment/ share/registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct Indirect Principal activities
EMAL ERTRAMKRE F*EEZ
HEAREE B/ S i AMERFE BHRER E# Mg TR

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited BB 18T REER

ERRNEREERBEERATA

GHEEGH R RERERAR PRC Registered capital of 60% = 60% Exploration, development
(transliterated as Yangcheng B RMB30,000,000 and production of
Huiyang New Energy Development AR coalbed methane
Company Limited) AR #30,000,00075 HE AEREEEER
(“Yangcheng Huiyang”) (note (b))

GRGEGRERERAR

(M5HES]) (M)

BRGIELEHEBER AR PRC Registered capital of 100% = 100% Gas distribution
(transliterated as Yangcheng Shun An RMB10,000,000 RARD
Gathering Pipeline Company Limited) HfER
(note (a)) AR 10,000,0007C

GHEEZEREERRAR (M)

#iE (M) BRIEME AR AT PRC Registered capital of 100% = 100% Manufacturing and sales of
(transliterated as Nuoxin (Xian County) ~ RMB47,564,900 PE gas pipelines
Engineering Materials Company Limited) HfER EEREERLGHIAEE
(“Nuoxin Engineering”) (note b) AR #47,564,9007C

#is (B MR T EMHERAR
([&fE1) (Misb)

TEEEREEBERAR

—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Notes:

(a) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise.

(b) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise.

() Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(d)  The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$350,000,000, of which

HK$240,000,000 (2020: HK$240,000,000) has been paid up as at 31 December
2021.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

40. RAREEMB AR 21
(%)

EZRARLERMINARB KB R A
REIBREAGREZRENEES
EERA RHEEMHBERRZFE
SEYRBEN LK

B 3 -

@ RERBEETMAIEEERE-

() BEHBEZEZMABRECTRE-

© REREEREFMAFIEECE-

d Pk Z T & 7K 72350,000,000/ 7T - E A

240,000,000/ 7T ( =& — Z 4 : 240,000,000
BILIER-_ZT=—F+=-A=+—HB#&-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

40.

The following table shows information of subsidiary that has
non-controlling interest (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before

inter-company eliminations.

BASERNERRRERAT

(transliterated as Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development

Company Limited)

ARREEMB AR ZFHIE
(#)

T RN AL B S EAIEERES
([EEm s 2 MHBARZ AR -
BIISER E 25) % B A A = iy
Az e8e

BHBREEHERERERAA

2021 2020
—B-—F —TEETF
Principal place of business/country of ~ F B4 ¥ 2 =X i PRC PRC
incorporation [DAVAEIER H 1
% of ownership interests/voting rights ~ FEERERIFEZFFEE
held by NCI % REEES 40%/40% 40%/40%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
At 31 December: R+=-—A=+—8:
Non-current assets SERBNE E 217,748 282,593
Current assets mENE E 153,459 154,467
Current liabilities MENEE (474,273) (497,981)
Net liabilities FB (103,066) (60,921)
Accumulated NCI 2R (41,226) (24,368)
Year ended 31 December: BE+t-A=1t—HLEE:
Revenue Wz 49,769 55,732
Reversal of impairment loss on other  E th & Uk 3k TR (B /5 18 7 [B
receivable 96 34
Impairment loss on property, M - R KR EREREE
plant and equipment (26,376) -
(Loss)/profit (&18), & T (42,145) 10,906
Total comprehensive income SHE U ALBRE (42,145) 10,906
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI SDEEEIEERER 2
(&BH),&5F (16,858) 4,363
Dividends paid to NCI IR T IR R 25 2 IR - -
Net cash generated from (used in) KEEBESE (FTA)Z
operating activities & ) H 5 813 (1,034)
Net cash used in investing activities REESA RS F5E (49) 972)
Net cash used in financing activities BB BT <R & F R (1,397) (1,650)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERBSEEY
equivalents VERAE ] (633) (3,656)

FEEEREESRAA
—E--FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

On 30 June 2021, the Group entered into a sale agreement
with ENN Gas Hong Kong Investment Limited (the
“Purchaser”), an independent third party to dispose of
the entire equity interest in a subsidiary, Luoyang Shunhe
Energy Co., Ltd. (“Luoyang Shunhe”) at a consideration
of approximately RMB73,984,000. The consideration is
satisfied by cash. The principal activities of Luoyang Shunhe
are pipeline gas transmission and distribution, storage and
sales. The disposal was effected in order to obtain funds
for the Group’s research and development and repayment
of debt. The disposal was completed on 4 October 2021,
on which date control of Luoyang Shunhe passed to the
Purchaser. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 4 October 2021 and 16 July 2021,
and the Company’s circular dated 7 September 2021. The
net assets of Luoyang Shunhe at the date of disposal were

41. HEMWB QA

(@)

R-ZT-—FNA=+H &&E
B —2BIFE=ANBEARARE
BEREBR AR ([EH])ETEH
EHE AELER —HEWEB AR
BIGIEREE IR AR AR (EE5)E
MOBEHBRE REOBAR
#573,984,0007T ° i KB AR & (&
eoRBGIBEMMEEXEBREE
MREBERDHE FFEREE-H
EETEEEALERHEBERGFE
EUAREREEE - BEFTHEHER
—E_—F+ANARZEKEH
BIZIERA TG EEBEER -
EHFE #F2HARRBHA
—E-—Ft+ANEER=ZZT=—
FELtATABZAE UEREARD

as follows: FRIBA-—ZT-_—FNLAtHZ
BRH-ALEHE KEIEMHE
EFEAT:
RMB’000
ARETTT
Net assets disposed of: FFHENEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment W3 - MR KRR 25,623
Right-of-use assets EREEE 5,755
Intangible assets mEEAE =
Trade and other receivables JFE LT AR 3R I L i R UK SRR 136
Cash and bank balances e MIRITH R 6
Trade and other payables JE 1< BR 3k B L B < SR IB (4,775)
Tax payable FERT IR (533)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE (2,884)
23,328
Gain on disposal of subsidiary: HEMB AT 2 W :
Consideration RKE 73,984
Net assets disposed of FIHENEEFE (23,328)
Gain on disposal HEFEKES 50,656
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEELEZHERANTFE:
Cash consideration HeRE 73,984
Less: cash and bank balances disposed of B FTHEMIRE RRTTEH 6)
consideration receivable (Note 21) FEUARE (FizE21) (14,523)
59,455

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

41. HEKB QT (&)

On 7 April 2021, the Group entered into a sale agreement b) RZEZ—FMWMAER K&
with an independent third party to dispose of the entire BB IE=RFEMEERE A
equity interest in a subsidiary, Shenzhen Ruishi Investment HER—EHBARRIITER
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Ruishi”) at a consideration of RMBH. KEABRAR (MRYBEE]BHE
The disposal was completed on 7 April 2021, on which HEz REAARKIT HE
date control of Shenzhen Ruishi passed to the purchaser. EER=_ZE=—FNHAEHTEK
The net liabilities of Shenzhen Ruishi at the date of disposal REBRIERFNEGEERE
were as follows: BER-REHEBBRRIEHNE
EFELT
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Net liabilities disposed of: FrHENaEFE:
Other payables H b fE S 3RI8 (154)
(154)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary: HEMBAR ZWH:
Consideration KE -
Net liabilities disposed of FHEENaERE 154
Release of non-controlling interest FRRR FE1E R B 2 (25)
Gain on disposal HEEE = 129
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEELEZHESRAFE:
Cash consideration RERE =
Less: cash and bank balances disposed of B FTHEERIR e RIRTTER -

o B 4 B R 2
—E--5EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_-Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

42, XA 2 B IR R AR

THE COMPANY
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®EFTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I ERE YL 157 418
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR 2K E 80,033 80,033
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE s B /B 1 R 5R78 45,399 112,431
125,589 192,882
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables TET 78 & E b fE U 5k IB 629 667
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEFEY 54,135 121
54,764 788
Current liabilities nEAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries VR NGIE ] 30,618 25,640
Amounts due to directors FEfEEFRIA 1,990 18,844
Accrued expenses and other payables &=t & 3 K E i & {5 FUIA 6,070 3,746
38,678 48,230
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE(AE)FE 16,086 (47,442)
Total assets less current liabilities EEERGHERE 141,675 145,440
Net assets BEFE 141,675 145,440
Capital and reserves BEAXRE #E
Share capital A& s 17,133 10,910
Reserves i 124,542 134,530
Total equity 48 R 2 141,675 145,440

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

31 March 2022.

Wang Zhong Sheng

T BB
Director

EF

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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HEfE N SRR T2

Chang Jian
&
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B@Z_—Z_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 2. XDTFZ2HMBERREK (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Reserves f#E
Share  Convertible
Share  Translation  Contributed option bonds Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
8RR
B3 EE BERE ERES BRERE B5FE ZHER @t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR ARETR AREBTR ARETR AR%TR ARET:R

Balance at 1 January 2020 RZZZZE-A-BE&R (668,084) 26,362 1,384,004 30,849 8,662 (689,679) 192,104

Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - (38,827) (38,827)

Other comprehensive income ~ AEE A2 EMA

for the year = (18,747) - - - - (18,747)
Total comprehensive loss AERZABRAE
for the year = (18,747) = = = (38,827) (67,574)

Transfer to accumulated losses AT &R E#EI 814

upon maturity of ERZ2ER

convertible bonds - - - - (8,652) 8,652 -
Balance at 31 December 2020 W-Z-T£+-A=1-H

and 1 January 2021 R-E-—E-F-A&H  (668,084) 7615 1,384,004 30,849 - (619854 134530
Loss for the year rEEFR - - - - - (11,758) (11,758)
Other comprehensive loss AEEEMEARR

for the year - (9,432) - - - - (9,432)
Total comprehensive loss rERZABRAE

for the year - (9,432) - - - (11,758) (21,190)
Issue of shares B0 G) 11,202 - - - - - 11,202
Lapse of share options BREL N - - - (30,849) - 30,849 -

Balance at 31 December 2021 R=FE-—F+-F=+—H
i (656,882) (1817 1,384,004 - - (600,763) 124,542

FEEEREEFRAA
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEMBERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ—Z_—F+_A=+—HIEFE

RESULTS 4
For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1+-RLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--f% ZTTE —T-NE —T-N\F “T+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AREFIT ARETFT ARETT
Revenue Yegx 215,125 179,329 168,229 168,097 178,562
Profit/loss) from operations BEXEBEEL
wfl/ (B8) 14,152 (4,948) (18,295) (73,469) (48,851)
Finance costs HBER (7,788) (8,127) (9,880) (9,296) 9,171)
Impairment loss on property, mE BEREE
plant and equipment RMEEE (26,376) (23,355) (40,637) (39,090) (8,329)
Loss before taxation BRERIEE (20,012) (36,430) (68,812) (121,855) (66,351)
Income tax credit/(expense) FEBiEe,/ (A%) 346 206 1 78) (620)
Loss for the year AEEEE (19,666) (36,224) (68,811) (121,933) (66,971)
Attributable to : TR :
Equity shareholders of the Company A2 Bl R AR R (2,236) (40,627 (63,510) (105,686) (70,219)
Non-controlling interests ey (17,430) 4,403 (5,301) (16,247) 3,248
Loss for the year AFEBR (19,666) (36,224) (68,811) (121,933) (66,971)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--% ZTTE ZT-NE —ZT-N\F —Z—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT
Total assets BEE 467,940 502,648 558,905 668,220 819,003
Total liabilities BefkE (353,271) (383,854) (405,762) (444,995) (486,278)
114,669 118,794 153,143 223,225 333,625
Attributable to: TRk :
Equity shareholders of the Company A2 Bl & AR E 161,622 147,739 185,554 250,335 344,488
Non-controlling interests ey (46,953) (28,945) (82,411) (27,110) (10,863)
114,669 118,794 153,143 223,225 333,625
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